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Foreword

We are pleased to make availabe this historic structure report, part of our ongoing effort to pro-

vide comprehensive documentation for the historic structures and landscapes of National Park 

Service units in the Southeast Region.  Many individuals and institutions contributed to the suc-

cessful completion of this work.  We would particularly like to thank the staff at Cane River Creole 

National Historical Park, especially the park’s superintendent Laura Soilliere and its historical ar-

chitect Eric Z. Ford; Mary Lyn Warner at the Cammie G. Henry Research Center, Watson Memo-

rial Library, Northwestern State University of Louisiana; and the staff at the Southern Historical 

Collection, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC.  We hope that this study will prove valu-

able to park management and others in understanding and interpreting the historical significance of 

the Gin Barn at Magnolia Plantation.

Dan Scheidt, Chief
Cultural Resources Division
Southeast Regional Office
National Park Service
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M A N A G E M E N T  S U M M A R Y

Executive 
Summary

Dating to the third quarter of the nineteenth century, the Gin 

Barn at Magnolia Plantation is one of the most prominent build-

ings in that unit of the Cane River Creole National Historical 

Park.  The building itself represents a type of gin that is signifi-

cantly different from gins built after the 1880s and its ginning ma-

chinery and cotton presses are extremely important industrial 

artifacts.

Historical Summary:  Much of the historical information in this 

report is found in research compiled by Cane River Creole Na-

tional Historical Park since 1994.  Most important have been Dr. 

Ann Malone Rose's historical overview and Dr. Bennie Keel's ar-

chaeological investigation of Magnolia, both of which have been 

indispensable to the present study.  Additional research focused 

on contextual information needed to understand the significance 

of the building's use as a gin barn, including visits to two sites in 

Georgia and Alabama where Munger- style “system gins” similar 

to the one at Magnolia have been restored to operation.  Numer-
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ous documents, books, and other materials at 

the Cammie G. Henry Research Center of the 

Watson Memorial Library at Northwestern 

State University of Louisiana in Natchitoches 

have been essential to compilation of this re-

port.  Finally, the Prud'homme Collection in 

the Southern Historical Collection and other 

collections at the University of North Carolina, 

Chapel Hill, provided important contextual 

information for the Gin Barn.

No historic photographs of the Gin Barn have 

been located except for a photograph that 

shows a small portion of the building after the 

1939 tornado.  A gin house has been docu-

mented on the site as early as 1835 and the 

“Gin” shown on the 1858 plat of the plantation 

is clearly in the vicinity of the present building.  

Physical evidence indicates that it is very un-

likely that the present building dates to the 

1830s, but rather to the third quarter of the 

nineteenth century.  Extensive but not exhaus-

tive research in a variety of historical records 

failed to find definitive proof that LeComte's 

gin at Magnolia was destroyed during the Civil 

War, leaving open the possibility that the Gin 

Barn dates to the 1850s.

Architectural Summary:  The building has been 

recorded by the Historic American Buildings 

Survey (HABS) and by the Historic American 

Engineering Record (HAER) and that docu-

mentation has greatly informed the present 

study.  Additional building investigation has 

focused on establishing the historical evolution 

and architectural integrity of the present 

structure.  The 1995 report from Ann Beha and 

Associates' structural inspection and assess-

ment of the building has also been useful.

The present configuration of the building and 

its machinery represents the last stage of the 

building's evolution as a gin barn when the 

Hertzogs upgraded their operation to one of 

Munger's new “system gins” in the 1890s.  The 

present machinery is at least the third genera-

tion in the building and is significant; but the 

wood- screw cotton press is one of the park's 

most- important artifacts.  It is one of only six 

wood- screw presses still in existence, one of 

only two of its type, and the only wood- screw 

press that remains intact on its original site.  

The building itself is most significant for hav-

ing been originally constructed to house both 

gin and cotton press under the same roof, an 

important advance in the operation of planta-

tion gins in the third quarter of the nineteenth 

century.

In 1939, the building was damaged by a tornado 

which also destroyed the adjacent engine 

house.  In making repairs, the building was sig-

nificantly altered.  After the building was ac-

quired by Museum Contents, Inc., in 1977, 

there were other repairs and alterations.  Fi-

nally, the NPS replaced the entire roof system 

in 1996, significantly altering the building's 

historic character again.

Although most of the building's remaining his-

toric materials are in good condition, an engi-

neering report by the Denver Service Center 

(DSC) in July 2000 raised questions about the 

building's structural stability that had not been 

noted in Beha's analysis of the building.  DSC's 
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proposed remedy would further alter the 

building's historic character.

Recommendations:  In essence, the recom-

mended approach to treatment of the Gin Barn 

intends to maximize the building's interpretive 

value while maintaining the present character 

of the plantation- - - both of which are goals 

implicit in the park's GMP.  While the Oakland 

unit of the park is slated for more ranger- led 

activities and demonstrations, the GMP out-

lines a “quieter, more contemplative discovery 

experience” for visitors to Magnolia, a goal 

that would not be well- served by any effort to 

reconstruct the entire gin complex.  So as not 

to interfere with the stated goal of preserving 

the cultural landscape as it evolved after World 

War II, the exterior of the building should be 

preserved in its present state.

However, the building's primary significance 

lies in its construction and use as a gin barn and 

not in its altered state as a hay barn (a use that 

is not even mentioned in the NHL designation 

report).  The GMP clearly intends the gin and 

press to be the focus of interpretation, some-

thing which cannot be reasonably accom-

plished while preserving all of the features of 

the post- 1939 hay barn.  In order to allow in-

terpretation of the building as a gin barn, the 

interior of the building will be rehabilitated to 

accommodate visitor access.  The wood- screw 

cotton press and gin machinery that remain in 

the building will be conserved for exhibit in 

situ.  Changes in the existing building will be 

limited to those that are necessary to meet the 

Park's interpretive goals for the site and to in-

sure continued preservation of the wood-

screw press, the ginning machinery, and the 

building itself.

Repair and replacement of missing flooring in 

at least part of the building is clearly a necessity 

under any scenario that provides public access 

to the building.   However, that need not in-

clude replacement of the now- missing floor-

ing that was laid across log joists in 1939 and 

which obscured the base of the cotton press.  

Replacement of the ground level flooring as it 

existed prior to 1939, as indicated on the plan at 

the end Part II, would allow visitor access to 

the building and, at the same time, would help 

give visitors a clearer understanding of how the 

building functioned when the gin was in oper-

ation.

Visitor access to the second floor, where most 

of the gin machinery is located, is restricted by 

the steep narrow stairs (1939) that provided 

access when the building was a hay barn and by 

floors missing at the northeast corner of the 

building, removed in 1939, and at the west end, 

scavenged for fire wood by tenants over the 

years.  By reconstructing the missing floor and 

historic stairs in the northeast corner of the 

second floor and replacing the missing flooring 

at the west end of that floor, visitors would be 

able to view the entire floor, including the gin 

machinery at one end and the loading deck for 

the wood- screw cotton press at the other.  

Handicapped access to the second floor is not 

practical without an elevator, which would be 

a major intrusion on the building's historic 

character.  Since the ginning and pressing op-

eration will require substantial interpretation 

for most visitors anyway, wayside exhibits un-
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der the arcades could help give all visitors, in-

cluding the handicapped, a comprehensive 

understanding of the building's historic fea-

tures and function.

Site

• Conduct complete archeological 

investigation around and within foot-

print of present building.

• Repair and repoint cistern; preserve 

engine base.

• Define appropriate routing of visitors 

around building.

• Keep perimeter of building free of 

vegetation.

Foundation

• Preserve existing historic brick and 

stone piers (on interior) and brick 

foundation to steam- powered press.

• Add additional piers if necessary to 

provide adequate support for antici-

pated loads (see below).

• Repoint historic masonry as necessary.

Framing

• Repair areas of rot and termite damage 

in sills and other framing members 

without replacing any timbers.

• Reframe west end as necessary to pro-

vide door opening.

• Secure end sills.

• Engage services of a structural engi-

neer with expertise in preservation of 

heavy timber construction to conduct 

structural analysis based upon build-

ing's repaired condition and proposed 

use and to provide recommendations 

for repairs.

• Consider alterations to program of 

use, including restricting visitor access, 

to avoid additional major structural 

intervention in the building.

Doors

• Repair interior and exterior doors as 

necessary and install appropriate 

latches. 

• Repair all shutters as necessary and 

provide necessary interior latching 

mechanism.

Windows

• Repair and maintain existing shutters.

Arcades

• Continue to preserve existing posts 

and headers on south side of building.

• Insure proper grade under arcades 

after completion of archeological 

investigation.

Wood Siding

• Repair siding as necessary, maintain-

ing lapped siding on ends and on dor-

mers, spaced slat siding on the sides, 
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and solid board walls in the lint and 

seed rooms.

Interior

• Replace all missing framing and floor-

ing at second level; replace missing 

flooring in lint room and on south side 

of east end of first floor as indicated on 

plan.

• At the second floor, preserve all exist-

ing flooring, adding flooring on top of 

the historic material if necessary to 

provide a safe route for visitors.

• Rebuild part of east wall of lint room; 

repair remainder of walls in lint and 

seed rooms.

• Rebuild wall on second floor above 

west wall of lint room or install railing 

at that location.

• Install railing around perimeter of 

former seed room floor.

• Reconstruct historic stairs at northeast 

corner of building; remove stairs at 

southeast corner of building.

Electrical System

• Consider exhibiting the building using 

only natural light.

• If necessary, design concealed lighting 

to illuminate poorly- lit areas of the 

building.

Fire Protection

• Install lightning rods on the building.

• Install a comprehensive system of fire 

and smoke detectors and a complete 

sprinkler system.

• Keep ground clear of vegetation or 

keep grass closely mowed within an 

area of about twenty feet around the 

perimeter of the building.

Handicapped Access

• Design handicapped- accessible route 

to and around building.

• Install ramp to door I.

• Design alternate means of interpreting 

second floor for handicapped visitors.

Cotton Gin

• Engage conservators and specialist in 

early twentieth century gins to guide 

conservation, re- assembly, and dis-

play of existing gin machinery, includ-

ing the old Eagle gin.

• As part of overall exhibit design for the 

building, determine how much recre-

ation of missing ductwork, drive shaft 

belts, and other missing components is 

necessary for good interpretation of 

the ginning and pressing operation.

Cotton Press

• Engage services of conservator spe-

cializing in large wooden objects to 

assess press' condition and guide its 

treatment.
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• Determine character and condition of 

press footing through archaeological 

investigation.

• Brace press with modern materials if 

necessary to insure structural stability.

• Avoid any disassembly or replacement 

of historic materials.

• Do not operate historic press; con-

struct working scale model to demon-

strate its operation to visitors.
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Administrative 
Data 

Locational Data
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        LCS#:  91561
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P A R T  1      D E V E L O P M E N T A L  H I S T O R Y

Historical 
Background & 
Context

The LeComtes were among the first Europeans to settle the 

southern end of  Isle Brevelle, twenty- five miles below Natchi-

toches, in the 1750s.  Over succeeding generations, the LeComtes 

expanded their holdings in the vicinity of what became Magnolia 

Plantation and, by the early 1800s, were among the largest land-

owners in Natchitoches Parish.

The development of the “cotton gin” (short for “cotton engine”) 

in the 1790s helped make  possible large- scale cotton production, 

and by 1810 subsistence agriculture and small- scale tobacco pro-

duction were giving way to cotton production all across the South.  

By the end of the War of 1812, cotton was the primary cash crop for 

the LeComtes and most of their neighbors; and as price per 

pound of export cotton soared to an antebellum high of 33.9 

cents in 1817, “cotton fever” gripped the South.1  Prices fell sharply 

after the Panic of 1819 and fluctuated between 10 and 21 cents over 

1.    Ann Patton Malone, "The Magnolia Plantation Overview," 
unpublished MSS prepared for NPS, 27 November 1996. p. 37.
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the next twenty years, but cotton remained an 

extremely profitable crop for those with the 

capital to invest in land and slaves.  As Dr. Ann 

P. Malone points out in her historical overview 

of Magnolia, Ambrose LeComte I recognized 

the wealth potential of cotton production and 

by 1820 had begun a “systematic” campaign to 

enlarge the family's old plantation, Shallow 

Lake, buying from relatives and neighbors a 

series of tracts to the west and north of the 

LeComte's original land grant.2  

In December 1824, LeComte's wife conveyed 

her half of the plantation to their grandson, 

Ambrose LeComte II, then still a minor of sev-

enteen years.  Perhaps their only son, Jean Bap-

tiste LeComte II, was already ill, for he died the 

following year, leaving young Ambrose II heir 

to a fortune in land and slaves.

Magnolia Plantation

Ambrose LeComte II (1807- 1883) married Julia 

Buard (1809- 1845) in 1827.  By that time, he was 

already assisting his grandfather Ambrose I in a 

series of “propitious purchases” that enlarged 

the family's already substantial colonial hold-

ings.  “The time was ripe,” Dr. Malone notes, 

“for the building of a cotton plantation unpar-

alleled in the region- - - Magnolia.”3  

LeComte's most- significant purchases of land 

were “in the volatile and expansive early and 

mid- 1830s” when present- day Magnolia Plan-

tation took form.  In December 1833, Ambrose 

LeComte (which one is not certain) bought 

acreage on the east side of Cane River from the 

estate of his grandfather's cousin Barthelemy 

LaCour.  In 1834, he bought additional acreage 

on both sides of Cane River from the estate of 

Barthelemy's brother Jean Baptiste LaCour.  

Then, in July 1835, LeComte made what Mal-

one calls his “most extraordinary purchase” 

when he paid Gasparite LaCour $29,000 for 60 

arpents4 on the west side of Cane River and 

900 arpents on the east side, “together with all 

and singular the houses, outhouses, cotton gin 

and other buildings thereon.”  Although the 

gin mentioned in that deed is certainly not the 

present Gin Barn, this last purchase did in-

clude the land on which the present Gin Barn 

is located.5      

Julia Buard LeComte, Ambrose II's wife, died 

in January 1845.  The inventory and appraisal of 

her estate includes mention of a gin house, 

which was valued at $2,800.  Dr. Bennie C. Keel 

suggests, probably correctly, that LeComte 

“may have enlarged and outfitted the gin house 

with expensive machinery.”6   If he did, the first 

gin house at Magnolia may have resembled the 

one at Westville in Stewart County, Georgia 

(see Figure 1).  

Built about 1840 and one of the best- preserved 

antebellum gin houses, the Westville gin is typi-

cal of the period.  The building is two stories 

high, with the gin stand located on the second 

2.    Malone, p. 35.
3.    Malone, p. 37.

4.    An arpent is a French unit of measure-
ment, approximating .40 hectare or .85 
acres.

5.    Malone, p. 37.
6.    Dr. Bennie C. Keel, A Comprehensive 

Subsurface Investigation at Magnolia Plan-
tation (Southeast Archeological Center, 
National Park Service, 1999), p. 24.
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floor above a ground- level area that is open on 

three sides and houses the animal- driven gears 

that powered the gin.  There is no documenta-

tion for any of LeComte's antebellum gin 

houses or gin stands.  LeComte probably re-

placed his gin stands (i.e., machinery) fre-

quently, since most antebellum gins wore out 

quickly due to the lack of suitable lubricants.7  

At one end of the Westville gin house is the lint 

room, which runs the full height of the struc-

ture and into which the ginned cotton was 

dumped and stored before being taken to the 

press to be baled.8  

By the 1830s, wooden screw presses were being 

widely used across the South.  Throughout the 

antebellum period, presses and gins were al-

most always powered by draft animals.  Be-

cause the sweeps or “buzzard wings” to which 

the animals were attached had to be located at 

the top of the screw, the press was typically a 

free- standing structure that was close but not 

attached to the gin house.  Replaced by more 

modern presses, including up- pressing steam 

presses in the late nineteenth century, only four 

of these wooden screw presses with sweeps at 

the top have survived, with the one at Westville 

being the best preserved.  None are in their 

original location.9

The separation of ginning and pressing opera-

tions was inherently inefficient, particularly 

during inclement weather; but, by the 1850s,  

Figure 1   Gin House at Westville, c. 
1840.  The open first floor houses 
the drive wheel and sweeps for 
draft animals.  Cotton was carried in 
baskets to the second floor for 
ginning before falling into the lint 
room, which is at the left end of the 
building in this image.  (NPS-SERO-
CRS, 2001)

other types of presses which allowed for in-

door operation were being patented. Karen 

Britton notes the “Star Press” that was adver-

tised by M. L. Parry of Galveston in 1857, but 

there were also earlier presses.10  James L. Mc-

Comb of Raymond, Mississippi,  developed an 

indoor press which was advertised in the 

Southern Cultivator in July 1850.  The ad at-

tracted the attention of Phanor Prud'homme, 

who wrote McComb that he was “wishing to 

7. HAER #LA-11 report, p. 3.
8. Karen Gerhardt Britton, Bale o' Cotton:  

The Mechanical Art of Cotton Ginning 
(Texas A&M University Press, 1992), p. 25.

9. HABS has documented wooden presses 
with sweeps at the top in North Carolina 
(2), South Carolina (1), and Alabama (1).  
The South Carolina and the Alabama 
presses were both in ruins when they were 
documented by HABS and are no longer 
intact.  Buzzard-wing presses also survive 
at the John Blue Plantation in Laurinburg, 
NC, and at Westville, GA.

10.Britton, p. 43.
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Figure 2   Westville cotton press, c. 
1864.  Note sweeps or “buzzard 
wings” above the roof.  (NPS-SERO-
CRS, 2001)

introduce on Red River one of your new cot-

ton presses.”11 By 1854, if not before, one of 

these presses had apparently been installed at 

Oakland.12 Prud'homme's press was destroyed 

along with his gin houses in 1864 and none of 

McComb's presses are known to survive to-

day.

The existing press at Magnolia and a similar 

one that is now located at Texas A&M Univer-

sity in Lubbock represent another type of in-

door cotton press.  The origin of the design of 

these two presses has not been documented, 

but it may also have been developed in the 

1850s. Both of these presses have wooden 

Figure 3   View of interior of 
Westville press building. 
Antebellum presses did not always 
include the surrounding shed, 
which would have facilitated 
operation of the press in inclement 
weather as well as protecting the 
screw from the elements.  (NPS-
SERO-CRS, 2001)

screws and, like the Star and McComb presses, 

were operated without the top- mounted 

sweeps or “buzzard wings” that were so com-

mon throughout the antebellum period.  In-

stead of turning the screw in a stationary press 

box, the box itself was turned around the 

screw, which remained fixed in place.  As Brit-

ton describes the operation of the Lubbock 

press, which was originally built around 1874 

on a farm near Tyler in east Texas, “a cross 

member was attached to the top of the screw 

and it . . . worked up and down in two vertical 

guides to keep the screw properly aligned as 

the two mules turned the entire press assembly 

around the screw.  The press was down- pack-

ing, and the bale was finished out at ground 

level.”13  The Magnolia press operated in a sim-

11.Letter from Phanor Prud'homme to J. 
McComb, 7 October 1850, Series 3.1.1, 
folder 143, Prud’homme Collection #613, 
Southern Historical Collection, University 
of North Carolina (UNC), Chapel Hill, NC. 

12.Letter from McComb to Phanor 
Prud'homme, 10 June 1854, Series 3.1.1, 
folder 145, Prud’homme Collection, UNC. 13.Britton, p. 49.
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ilar way, although it was powered by horses ac-

cording to one report (see Appendix B for 

HAER report on press operation).14 

With the gin and press combined into one 

building, the ginning operation could go on in 

any weather, a great step forward for the typical 

plantation gin since so much of that work had 

to go on in the fall and winter.  The Magnolia 

and Lubbock presses are the only two of this 

type known to exist today, although there are 

elements of what appear to have been one or 

perhaps two earlier presses, perhaps of the 

same type, incorporated into the east end of the 

existing gin barn at Magnolia.  Given the obvi-

ous advantages that these indoor presses of-

fered and the fact that, unlike the McComb and 

Star presses, they could be built as easily as the 

old “buzzard- wing” presses, it is difficult to 

believe that there were not others besides these 

in the twenty or thirty years before screw 

presses were rendered obsolete by steam-

powered hydraulic presses in the last quarter 

of the nineteenth century.

In February 1858, G. S. Walmsley surveyed 

Magnolia for Ambrose LeComte II and pro-

duced a detailed plat of the property showing 

the location of most, if not all, of the antebel-

lum structures, including a “Gin.”  Although 

Walmsley platted boundary lines correctly, 

Keel noted in the report of his archaeological

Figure 4   Phanor Prud’homme 
apparently installed one of these 
indoor presses at Oakland in the 
early 1850s.  (Illustration from 
Southern Cultivator, July 1850)

investigation (1999) that “internal features 

were plotted with much less precision.”15  

Building dimensions, features, and spatial rela-

tionships, while useful for interpretation, are 

not always accurately depicted.  Nevertheless, 

the “Gin” depicted on this plat is clearly lo-

cated in the approximate vicinity of the present 

building.  If the image is accurate, the antebel-

lum gin was a two- story, wood- framed struc-

ture with end- gabled roof and an open shed 

off its eastern end.  Walmsley did not depict an 

outdoor cotton press, perhaps because he 

considered it a secondary structure or, more 

likely, because there was none.  Since he went 

to the trouble of depicting corn cribs, pigeon 

houses, and a smoke house, it could be con-

cluded that LeComte had already installed

14."Farming Today, Farming of the '90s," 
undated newspaper article, probably 
1941, in "1939-1949 Scrapbook," private 
Hertzog Collection, Magnolia Plantation.  
In this article, reference is made to "the 
old time cotton gin horse press" at Mag-
nolia. 15.Keel, p. 28.
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Figure 5   Part of plat of Magnolia, 
about 1858, depicting “Gin” and 
other buildings on the plantation.  
Arrow locates gin.  (Hertzog Family 
Collection, Magnolia Plantation)

one of the newer, indoor, stationary- screw 

presses by 1858.

Unfortunately, no other documentary evidence 

for the antebellum cotton gin and presses at 

Magnolia has been located except for a nota-

tion in Magnolia records that “Little Ned” died 

September 29, 1856, “burnt in the press.”16  It is 

an odd reference that has been interpreted to 

mean that LeComte's gin and presses were be-

ing powered by steam.17  If that were so, it is still 

not clear how one might be “burnt” to death in 

a press, since any boiler and engine would have 

been located outside the building, with power 

transferred by belts to the gin and press inside.  

In addition, the first steam- powered, up-

packing press, which would ultimately replace 

the old screw presses, did not appear until the 

1870s.18  Cotton lint could be highly combusti-

ble (making fire the gin owner's greatest 

worry), and it is possible that the death of Little 

Ned had nothing to do with steam- powered 

engines at all.  Nevertheless, some plantation 

owners, including Phanor Prud'homme at 

Oakland, are known to have installed steam-

powered gins in the 1850s.19  While mules, 

horses, or oxen remained the most common 

source of power until the last quarter of the 

nineteenth century, it is possible that Ambrose 

LeComte also installed a steam- powered gin in 

the 1850s.20

LeComtes and Hertzogs

In February 1846, a little over a year after his 

first wife's death, Ambrose LeComte II married 

Lise Victorie Désirée Sompayrac (1816- 1898).  

Over the next ten years, he gradually withdrew 

from active management of Magnolia, prefer-

ring instead to focus on breeding and racing his 

thoroughbred horses, for which he was win-

ning prizes in Europe as early as the mid-

1840s.21  By 1850, the LeComtes were not living 

16."List of Slaves at Magnolia, 1852, but esti-
mated in 1845," Series 3.1.2, folder 164, 
Prud'homme Papers, UNC.

17.Malone, p. 49.

18.Britton, p. 54.
19.Letter to Phanor Prud'homme from 

unknown party who was training one of 
Prud'homme's slaves to operate a steam 
engine, Series 3.1.1, folder 145, 
Prud’homme Collection, UNC.  Also see 
Prud'homme's journal, 27 February 1860 
and other dates through September 1860 
which document his construction of a 
steam-powered gin,  Series 3.1.5, folder 
273, Prud’homme Collection, UNC. 

20.Britton, p. 25.
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at Magnolia but at their town house in Natchi-

toches.  In the 1850 Federal Census, the only 

residents at Magnolia were Suzette Buard, the 

widow of Julia Buard LeComte's brother Louis, 

who had been a close friend and business part-

ner of Ambrose LeComte II; Suzette's six chil-

dren; and her younger brother Matthew 

Hertzog (1829- 1903), son of Jean François Hert-

zog (1782- 1842) and Marianne Désirée 

Prud'homme.

Although Dr. Malone's study of Magnolia ac-

cepts family lore placing construction of their 

first Big House in the 1830s, recent findings 

have confirmed that Ambrose LeComte com-

pleted a new house in the spring of 1851.22  Per-

haps the house was built for his daughter 

Ursula Atala (1830- 1897) since, after her mar-

riage to Matthew Hertzog in January 1852, they 

occupied the house.  Sometime after the Hert-

zog's marriage, LeComte executed a partner-

ship agreement that gave the Hertzogs a 40-

percent interest in the LeComte plantations 

along Cane River.  For the rest of their lives, the 

Hertzogs made Magnolia their home and were 

in charge of day- to- day decision- making and 

operations.  Under the Hertzogs in the 1850s, 

Magnolia Plantation experienced its heyday.23  

With cotton prices soaring, the prosperous 

years leading up to the Civil War were almost 

unprecedented for many Southern cotton 

planters; certainly they were for the LeComte/ 

Hertzog partnership.  With over two hundred 

slaves in the 1850s (235 in 1860) on their three 

plantations (Shallow Lake, Vienna, and Mag-

nolia), they were able to capitalize fully on the 

dramatic rise of “King Cotton.”  From as few as 

103 bales of cotton grown in the flood year of 

1847, production at Magnolia rose to 479 in 

1852, which LeComte noted in his journal as an 

“excellent year.”  Prices and production re-

mained strong throughout the 1850s.  In 1860, 

on the eve of the Civil War, LeComte claimed 

production of over 1,100 bales of ginned cot-

ton.  As Dr. Malone notes, LeComte and Hert-

zog were “fully into the one- crop economy,” 

with LeComte being both the parish's largest 

slaveholder and its largest cotton producer.24

Civil War and Reconstruction

After the firing on Ft. Sumter in April 1861, 

western and northern buyers quickly withdrew 

from the cotton market, although New Orleans 

factors continued to buy for a while longer.  It 

was a banner year for cotton production, but 

by year's end one Louisiana planter lamented 

that “all commercial interests are entirely de-

stroyed” by the Federal blockade of Southern 

ports.  “Cotton and sugar cannot be sold.”25

A few of the more optimistic planters contin-

ued to plant cotton in 1862 and some may even 

have managed to export their crop overland to 

the Mexican port at Matagorda until that ave-

nue, too, was closed by the Union blockade.  

The Federal occupation of New Orleans in 

April 1862 and of Baton Rouge a short time later 

forced removal of the state's capital to Alexan-21.Malone, p. 56; Arthur Babb, "My Sketch-
book," p. 207, Magnolia Coll., NSU.

22.Keel, pp. 84-88.
23.Malone, pp. 55-56.

24.Malone, pp. 59-60.
25.Malone, p. 68.
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dria and insured that cotton would be a worth-

less commodity in Louisiana for the duration of 

the war.  As a result, the Hertzogs and most of 

the rest of the planters along Cane River had lit-

tle incentive to continue planting cotton and, 

instead, focused their efforts on growing corn 

and other products that could help supply the 

Confederate armies.  In May 1863, Federal 

troops occupied Alexandria, forcing state offi-

cials to flee again, this time to Shreveport.  By 

the spring of 1864, forty- five thousand Federal 

troops were massed at Alexandria, awaiting 

spring rains that would make the Red River 

navigable and allow conquest of the upper 

reaches of the valley and confiscation of its rich 

store of cotton.

All over upper Louisiana, massive amounts of 

cotton had built up in warehouses as the Fed-

eral blockade shut down the cotton export 

market.  Over twelve thousand bales were re-

ported in the Natchitoches area alone; and, in 

order to prevent a potentially- valuable com-

modity from falling into enemy hands, Confed-

erate army officers executed a two- year- old 

proclamation from the Governor that ordered 

“the destruction of all cotton within the limits 

of Louisiana that is in danger of falling into the 

hands of the enemy.”  By the time Federal 

forces moved out of Alexandria in late March, 

the banks of Cane River were ablaze with 

burning cotton.  As the Federal troops as-

cended the valley in early April, cotton contin-

ued to burn; and one retreating Confederate 

soldier remembered that “from the 24- Mile 

Ferry [below Cloutierville] up to the Town of 

Natchitoches, it looked like everything was on 

fire, every plantation had fire and smoke.  Cot-

ton was burning.  Cotton gins and gin houses 

were burning.  And it seemed to be a retreat of 

24 miles through the fire and smoke of burning 

cotton and cotton houses and even when we 

arrived at Natchitoches, there was cotton burn-

ing on the opposite bank of the river.”26

Although many residents remembered wanton 

destruction by Federal troops, the goal re-

mained destruction of cotton itself, and not 

necessarily the means of its production.  Fed-

eral commanders made this clear in orders is-

sued in late March:

In relation to cotton gins where there are but 

small lots of cotton and not enough time to 

remove this, the cotton will not be fired, but in all 

such cases every effort should be made to roll the 

cotton out.  But where there is cotton in any 

quantity in the gin- houses, and no opportunity to 

remove it, it must be burned. . . .  You will also 

refrain from burning where the gin houses con-

nect with dwellings or other expensive range of 

buildings.27

The history of one Maine regiment records 

their march up Cane River in 1864 and contains 

the only sure reference to Magnolia that has 

been located in Civil War records.  “The wind 

blew a gale down river” on Thursday, March 

26.Sharon Sholars Brown, editor, "Papers of 
the Fifth Grand Reunion of the Descen-
dants of the Founders of Natchitoches"  
(Conference held 27-28 July 1984, North-
western State University), p. 32, Sp. Coll., 
NSU.

27.Testimony of F. L. Grappe in Charles C. Ber-
trand v. United States, Case #345, French 
and American Claims commission, micro-
film, p. 33, NSU.
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31, as the regiment crossed Cane River and be-

gan their march toward Natchitoches.  There 

was some plundering as the troops passed 

through Cloutierville before camping for the 

night near Melrose, which was then the plan-

tation of Ambrose LeComte's sister Laura and 

his brother- in- law Bernard Théophile Henry 

Hertzog.  Along the way, according to the regi-

mental history, “All the cotton houses [which 

may not necessarily have been gin houses] had 

been burnt; at LeComte plantation, the fire 

which was five days old, was still blazing.”28  

Since the troops were marching up the east 

bank of the Cane River, it is likely that this ref-

erence is to Magnolia and not to LeComte's 

Shallow Lake plantation.  However, if it had 

been burning for five days, the fire must have 

been set days before the Federal march began 

from Alexandria, and LeComte and Hertzog 

may have had the opportunity to save their 

buildings if not the cotton itself.  It is possible 

that the Maine historian even mistook mounds 

of burning cotton bales for burning structures.

In late April, battles at Mansfield and Pleasant 

Hill, northwest of Natchitoches, resulted in “a 

frantic retreat . . . a relentless 30- hour- long 

forced march” that took the Federal troops 

back down Cane River.  On this march, there 

was widespread looting and burning of civilian 

property, including the entire town of Grand 

Ecore, above Natchitoches.  Near Campti 

above Natchitoches, Ambrose LeComte's 

cousin Tranquillian LeComte saw his entire 

plantation burned to the ground.29  One Con-

federate general may have exaggerated when he 

remembered that “the destruction of this 

country by the enemy exceeds anything in his-

tory.  For many miles every dwelling house, 

every Negro cabin, every cotton gin, every 

corn crib, and even chicken houses have been 

burned to the ground.”30  Nevertheless, the de-

struction was widespread and the fate of the 

LeComte gin can only be guessed.

The Maine regiment left Natchitoches at 1:30 

a.m., April 22, with their way “lighted by the 

fires of burning cotton.”  Retracing the route of 

their march three weeks earlier, the regiment 

followed along the west bank of Cane River be-

fore stopping around 11 a. m. at an unidentified 

plantation “whose mansion house had been 

burned months before.”  Resuming their 

march around three o'clock in the afternoon, 

they did not reach their camp two miles below 

Cloutierville until nearly midnight, having 

marched almost 40 miles that day.31

Given the above accounts, it is not certain 

when the Hertzog's big house at Magnolia was 

burned, since family tradition only states that it 

occurred during the Red River campaign when  

Federal troops are thought to have camped 

near Magnolia.  One family legend suggests that 

the firing of the big house was the result of 

Hertzog's overseer gambling with Federal 

28.John Gould, History of the First-Tenth-
Twenty-ninth Maine regiment in service of 
the United States from May 3, 1861 to 
June 21, 1866   (Portland, ME:  S. Berry, 
1871), p. 409.

29.Testimony of Henry Ruty in Henry Ruty v. 
United States, Case #369, French and 
American Claims commission, microfilm, 
NSU.

30.Brown, p. 34.
31.Gould, p. 433.
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troops, an encounter that could certainly have 

occurred as troops rested in the vicinity on 

April 22.32  However it happened, the Hertzog's 

house was a complete ruin by the time the Fed-

eral troops decamped and other structures may 

have been destroyed as well.33  Although there 

was clearly widespread destruction up and 

down the valley in the spring of 1864, there is 

still no certain record of the plantation's gin 

being destroyed at that time.  The war dragged 

on for another year as the residents of Cane 

River coped with the desolation around them.  

“Discouraged and depressed,” according to Dr. 

Malone, the Hertzogs moved into the old slave 

hospital, where they would live for more than 

thirty years.  Not until the 1890s were they fi-

nally able to rebuild on the burnt- out founda-

tions of their antebellum house.

Hertzog's Magnolia

Ambrose LeComte retained his controlling in-

terest in Magnolia until his death, but Malone 

credits Matthew Hertzog with rebuilding the 

ruined plantation.  Cotton prices were high im-

mediately after the war; and, although the tur-

moil of free labor slowed the return to full 

production, an operational gin and press would 

have been a high priority for Hertzog, as it was 

for Phanor Prud'homme, who rebuilt his gin 

and press in 1866.34  With the ad hoc solution of 

tenancy and sharecropping, production rose 

rapidly after 1868, while increased international 

competition and other factors kept cotton 

prices from recovering but a fraction of their 

pre- war level.  In 1870, Hertzog and LeComte 

produced only 376 bales of ginned cotton, a 

sharp decline from the bumper crops of the late 

1850s.

The Panic of 1873 precipitated a nation- wide 

economic depression, and by the time Recon-

struction ended in Louisiana in 1876, the econ-

omy was only just beginning to improve.  Even 

then, the South's debt- ridden farmers contin-

ued to suffer over the next twenty years, a pe-

riod many remembered as “the Long 

Depression.”  Unfortunately, the amount of 

cotton produced at Magnolia in the 1880s and 

1890s has not been documented, since it ap-

pears that Magnolia and the Shallow Lake 

plantation escaped enumeration in the 1880 ag-

ricultural census schedules and the 1890 sched-

ules do not exist.  Nevertheless, Malone 

concludes that cotton and corn remained the 

major crops at both plantations throughout the 

nineteenth century.35 

Ambrose LeComte II died in March 1883 at his 

home on Front Street in Natchitoches, and a 

short time later his executors inventoried his 

estate.   In spite of enormous financial setbacks 

from the loss of his slaves and devaluation of 

property after the Civil War, LeComte still held 

title to his two Cane River plantations, Shallow 

Lake and Magnolia (Vienna had been sold).  

Shallow Lake, which the LeComtes are thought 
32. Interview with Betty Hertzog, 9 May 2001.
33.According to Keel, items recoverd from a 

burned structure situated under the 
present store suggest that the plantation 
“commissary” was burned during the Civil 
War.

34.Plantation Journal, Series 3.1.5, folder 271, 
Prud'homme Coll., UNC, documents 
Prud'hommes reconstruction of his gin 
and press. 

35.Malone, pp. 82-83.
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to have first developed over a hundred years 

earlier, consisted of 1,960 acres valued at 

$12,000; Magnolia included 2,261 acres and was 

valued at $15,000.  In addition, LeComte 

owned a significant amount of property in Nat-

chitoches, including his town house, commer-

cial real estate, and a 50- acre horse- racing 

track, as well as several thousand acres of 

“wild” lands in up- state Louisiana.

The 1883 inventory of Magnolia also noted an 

“Eclipse” cotton gin stand and condenser 

powered by a “Chapley” steam engine.  Value 

of the ginning equipment was put at $1,025.36  

This reference represents the first sure histori-

cal evidence for the use of a steam- powered 

gin at Magnolia.  The old wood- screw cotton 

press remained in operation even after the 

more modern “system gin” was installed in the 

1890s.  In 1941, Miles Delacorda, whose father 

had been one of Matthew Hertzog's overseers, 

recalled “Hay Pressing Time” and continued 

use of the old wood- screw cotton press at the 

west end of the Magnolia gin barn.  “They 

made hay while the sun shone and harvested 

on the rainy days,” Delacorda recalled, “using 

the old time cotton gin horse press, making the 

bales of hay like bales of cotton.”37

There was a variety of improvements in the 

technology of cotton ginning over the years, 

but in the 1880s, Robert S. Munger revolution-

ized the entire operation.  According to Britton, 

Munger was “frustrated by the long lines of 

wagons, impatient farmers, and an inability to 

fill available rail cars” because the old process 

could not keep pace with the tremendous in-

crease in cotton production that occurred after 

the Civil War.  So, between 1883 and 1885, Mu-

nger “completely reorganized the hundred-

year- old tradition of plantation ginning” with 

the development of his “system ginning” 

whose concept and technology are still in use 

today.  In essence, Munger devised a system 

that automated the ginning process into one 

streamlined operation.  By using fans to create 

a pneumatic system to move cotton from the 

farmer's wagon all the way through to the fin-

ished bale, Munger eliminated much of the 

hand labor, and for the first time commercial 

gin operations became really profitable.38  

In 1887, the executors of Ambrose LeComte's 

estate sold Shallow Lake plantation to Am-

brose's daughter Eliza LeComte Prud'homme 

and formally passed title to Magnolia planta-

tion to Matthew and Atala LeComte Hertzog.  

Cotton prices plunged to 5- 7 cents per pound 

during the economic depression that followed 

the Panic of 1893, but as the economy recovered 

after 1895,  the Hertzogs were finally able to re-

build the Big House that had been destroyed in 

1864.  Late in 1896 the Hertzogs finished the 

house and were able to move from the old slave 

hospital where they had lived for over thirty 

years.  Living with them was their only son, 

Ambrose J. Hertzog (1857- 1921), who was man-

aging the plantation, along with Ambrose's 

wife, Sally Hunter, and their four children.  

Atala LeComte Hertzog died in October 1897, 

36.Malone, p. 86.
37."Farming Today, Farming of the '90s," 

undated newspaper article, probably 
1941, in "1939-1949 Scrapbook," private 
Hertzog Collection, Magnolia Plantation. 38.Britton, pp. 58-59.
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less than a year after they moved into the new 

house, leaving Matthew Hertzog a widower for 

the last six years of his life.  He died in May 1903 

at the age of 74.

Ambrose Hertzog inherited most of Magnolia 

from his father, but his sister Fannie Hertzog 

Chopin inherited the gin and quarters.  In or-

der to keep the working core of the plantation 

intact, she sold that property back to her 

brother in 1903.  A short time later, she and her 

husband, Lamy Chopin, acquired another 

plantation below Cloutierville.39

Within a year of Matthew Hertzog's death, re-

ports of losses from boll weevil infestations 

were reported in Louisiana.  First observed in 

the Rio Grande valley around 1893, the weevil 

steadily expanded its territory north and east 

until even the cotton- growing regions of Geor-

gia and the Carolinas were being devastated by 

the early 1920s.  In the years leading up to 

World War I, the situation grew increasingly 

desperate and, as Dr. Malone points out, many 

Southern farmers were brought to “the brink 

of ruin.”  The outbreak of war in Europe in 1914 

brought only a brief respite in terms of higher 

prices.  Cotton briefly rose as high as 43 cents a 

pound in 1919 before crashing to a fraction of 

that in 1920, sending the South's entire cotton-

based, agricultural economy into collapse.40  In 

addition, as the cotton economy was being de-

stroyed by the boll weevil and foreign competi-

tion, large numbers of black sharecroppers and 

tenant farmers abandoned the plantations for 

better jobs and less discrimination in the 

North, especially during and shortly after 

World War I.  Often called the “Detroit Exo-

dus” for the large numbers who migrated to 

that city's booming automobile economy, the 

migration left the South strewn with aban-

doned and derelict tenant farms and planta-

tions and left landowners and businessmen 

hurting for labor.41

While the boll weevil did not bring an end to 

cotton farming in the South, it did make the 

business far more difficult and only slowly did 

farmers learn to deal with the pest.  After Am-

brose J. Hertzog died in 1921, it was with some 

difficulty that his son Matthew II was able to 

continue operating Magnolia through the 

1920s, only to see the bottom drop out of the 

national economy after 1929, when cotton fell 

to nine cents a pound.  With huge crops in 1930 

and 1931, the price of cotton dropped to a nickel 

in 1932, far below the cost of production.  Calls 

for voluntary reduction in acreage went largely 

unheeded until 1933 when, as part of FDR's 

“New Deal,” farmers were forced to plow un-

der a quarter of their crops or face financial 

penalties.  In doing so, “they were, in fact, 

plowing under an old way of life.”  Although 

the New Deal helped stabilize cotton prices, 

not until World War II did increased demand 

bring prices back up to a profitable level.42 

In January 1939, one of the tornadoes that pe-

riodically plague the Red River valley devas-

tated Magnolia.  Although the tornado missed 

the Big House and its oak- shaded grounds,

39.Malone, p. 82.
40.Malone, p. 74.

41.Malone, p. 88.
42.Malone, pp. 89-90.
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Figure 6    View of destroyed 
engine house at Gin Barn after 1939 
tornado.  The barn is partially visible 
at right.  (Hertzog Family Collection, 
Magnolia Plantation)

several of the buildings to the south were badly 

damaged.  The engine house at the east end of 

the gin barn was destroyed, and there was sig-

nificant damage to the gin barn itself.  While the 

main structure survived intact, the lean- to 

sheds along the sides were ripped from the 

building, and there was probably damage to the 

main roof as well.  By then, Hertzog's ginning 

equipment was well past its prime; and, with 

larger, more- modern, community gins avail-

able in the parish, he followed the lead of many 

of his contemporaries in abandoning his plan-

tation ginning operation.

The engine house was so badly damaged that it 

was torn down, leaving only the brick founda-

tion for the steam engine to mark its location.  

The gin barn was not beyond repair, however.  

The arcades on either side of the building were 

rebuilt, the roof repaired, and a wooden floor  

installed where there had been none in the 

press or west end of the building and along the 

north side of the east end.  The old cotton press 

and ginning equipment were left in place; but 

for the next forty years, the barn was used only 

for storage of hay.
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Chronology of 
Development & 
Use

A large amount of confusion has attended recent interpretation of 

the Gin Barn, with estimated dates of construction ranging from 

the 1830s to the 1890s and a number of theories floated about its 

historic evolution.  The present study is an attempt to define and 

interpret the building using documentation from archival research 

and from family tradition as well as data from physical investiga-

tion of the building itself by a number of parties.  Through this 

process, a clear sequence of changes can be identified in the 

building, although major repairs in 1939, 1982, and 1996 make it 

difficult at this late date in the building's history to describe with 

complete certainty the building's earliest appearance and use.  In 

addition, precise dating of the construction and historical evolu-

tion of vernacular buildings, particularly agricultural buildings like 

the gin barn, is always difficult.  Archival investigation usually 

produces little definitive information, and traditional building de-

tails change so slowly (and are so easily misread) that they, too, of-

fer only scant clues to aid in dating the various phases of the 

building's evolution.  As a result, the sequence of changes to the 

Gin Barn generally can be identified but individual changes them-

selves cannot always be definitively dated and interpreted.
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Origins

The 1996 report by the Historic American En-

gineering Record (HAER) noted that the barn 

"appears to have been constructed at one time, 

rather than added to over a period of years or 

decades."  Further historical research and 

building investigation have found nothing to 

alter that conclusion.  This is not to say the 

building has not been altered- - there have been 

many alterations, especially to the arrangement 

and connection of the interior spaces- - but the 

uniformity of the main framing members, the 

way they are joined, and other features of the 

present building "are consistent with same-

date construction."  All evidence indicates that 

the main frame of the building was originally 

built in more or less its present size and form.43

A newspaper article that Malone discovered in 

one of the Hertzog scrapbooks has led some 

researchers to the mistaken conclusion that the 

Gin Barn was constructed long after the Civil 

War.  Shortly before World War II,  the Natchi-

toches Times printed a brief memoir by a son of 

a Hertzog overseer named Delacorte.  Entitled 

"Farming Today vs. Farming of the 90s," the 

undated article (see Appendix A) states that 

Matthew Hertzog "built the new gin with seed 

house on the river bank and delivery pipe from 

the gin house to the seed house, a distance of 

one hundred yards or more," implying in the 

article that this construction occurred in the 

1890s.44  The seed house, which 

Figure 7   Detail from 1858 plat of 
Magnolia Plantation depicting 
“Gin” near or on site of present Gin 
Barn.  The survey line to the right of 
center approximates the present 
southern boundary of NPS property 
at Magnolia.

stood west of the barn, was torn down in the 

1970s; but patent dates and other information 

supplied by the Continental Gin Company 

confirm that the present gin stands and some 

other surviving equipment, which were all part 

of a Munger- type "system gin," date to the 

1890s or very early 1900s.

However, the use of hewn sills, girders, and 

posts; mortise- and- tenon joinery; and pegged 

rafter connections virtually eliminates the pos-

sibility that the Gin Barn was built after Recon-

struction.  By the last quarter of the nineteenth 

century, sawmill technology had so improved 

that even large timbers could be milled, elimi-

nating the laborious hewing of wood that was 

previously necessary to produce large- dimen-
43.    HAER #LA-11, p. 5.
44.    "Farming Today, Farming of the 90s."
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sioned lumber.  Furthermore, there was a sig-

nificant evolution in the technology of wood-

framed structures in the nineteenth century as 

traditional timber framing underwent a steady 

reduction in the size of individual members.  

Standardization of lumber dimensions facili-

tated the development of modern "balloon 

framing," especially after the Civil War; and, by 

the 1890s, plans for balloon- framed gin houses 

were widely available.45  Almost certainly any 

gin house that Hertzog might have built in the 

1890s would have been balloon framed.

In addition, alterations to the existing building 

show conclusively that the present ginning 

equipment, which is the same equipment de-

scribed in the newspaper article, was installed 

long after construction of the building itself.  

There is evidence for at least two earlier gins in 

the building, both of which pre- dated the Mu-

nger- type system gins of the late 1880s and 

1890s.  It must be concluded that the overseer's 

son was simply mistaken in believing Hertzog's 

gin barn and the "system gin" of the 1890s were 

contemporaneous.

Other researchers have suggested that the Gin 

Barn dates to the 1830s.  However, the use of 

circular- sawn lumber precludes the possibility 

that the existing Gin Barn is the early gin house 

that was on the property in 1835, since circular-

sawn joists and studs were not generally used 

until the 1850s.  It is possible that the basic tim-

ber- framed structure, including the log floor 

joists of the center room, represents the origi-

nal building and that the second floors were 

added later (there is no evidence for an earlier 

floor system).  However, if this were the case, 

the building would make little sense as a gin 

barn.  The large size of the building and the 

configuration of its plan also do not fit the pat-

tern for most early gin barns (e.g., the Westville 

gin house, Figures 1 & 2, above).  In addition, 

the few cut nails in the building cannot be 

dated earlier than the 1840s, leading to the con-

clusion that it is unlikely that the Gin Barn was 

built before the 1850s.

It is possible that the archaeological feature that 

Keel identified southeast of the present barn 

represents the remains of the gin house that 

was on the property when Ambrose LeComte 

purchased the plantation in 1835.46  It is also 

possible that the present Gin Barn was built on 

the site of the older building, although there has 

been no archaeological investigation within the 

footprint of the present building to confirm or 

deny that possibility.  The existing Gin Barn 

may well be the same structure depicted on the 

1858 plat.  Although very little is known about 

LeComte's antebellum gin house (or houses) 

other than the information contained in this 

plat, there is nothing in the existing Gin Barn 

that is inconsistent with a construction date in 

the 1850s.  The combination of hewn sills, posts 

and plates along with circular- sawn joists and 

studs is often found in 
45.    The balloon-framed gin barns at Agr-

irama in Tifton, Georgia, and at Olde Ala-
bama Town in Montgomery were both 
modeled after authentic gin barn plans 
from the 1890s. 

46.    Keel, p. 60-61, refers to this feature as 
"Structure Group B."
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Figure 8   Top, view of original roof 
prior to its removal in 1995; bottom, 
detail of salvaged rafters showing 
lapped and pegged ridge 
connection.  (Upper image, 
Architectural Division, NPS-SERO, 
1994; lower image, NPS-SERO-CRS, 
2001)

buildings from the 1850s and later.  Perhaps the 

most compelling evidence for an antebellum 

construction date was found in the pole-

framed roof.  Parts of two original pole rafters 

were preserved, complete with ridge connec-

tion, when the roof structure was replaced in 

1995. 47 The lapped and pegged connection of 

these rafters is typical of the antebellum period 

but would be unusual in the postbellum period.  

The Magnolia store, for example, is thought to 

have been constructed in the early 1870s and 

used nailed rather than pegged rafter connec-

tions.

In addition, research has failed to locate con-

vincing evidence that the Magnolia gin was de-

stroyed during the Civil War, although 

circumstances suggest that is possible.48  Al-

though no precise construction date for the gin 

barn can be established at this time, existing 

information strongly suggests that the building 

was built shortly before the Civil War or, per-

haps, immediately after the war.  While many 

conclusions must remain tentative, a general 

outline of the building's development and use 

since that time is presented below.  Physical ev-

idence suggests that the building was substan-

tially altered on at least three occasions, most 

recently when it was converted to a hay barn in 

1939.  While the sequence of modifications to 

the building is clear, dates for earlier configura-

tions are approximate and should not be con-

sidered absolute.

Original Barn, c. 1860

While the hewn frame of the building appears 

to have been built at one time, it is not abso-

47.    The character of the connection and the 
presence of nineteenth-century cut nails in 
the surviving rafter ends prove conclu-
sively that at least part of the roof 
removed in 1995 was original and not, as 
some have assumed, a modern reconstruc-
tion of the original roof.

48.    There is no family tradition that the gin 
barn was burned in 1864 nor is there any 
certain mention of it in the French-Ameri-
can claims or the Maine regimental his-
tory.
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Figure 9   Conjectured floor plan of 
original barn, c. 1860.  (NPS-SERO-
CRS, 2001)

lutely certain that the second floor was part of 

the original building, given the unusual, if not 

unique, nature of the connection of the second 

floor beams.  These connections consist of 

pegged splines instead of the more typical 

mortise- and- tenon joinery and are found at all 

of the second floor beam connections as well as 

at some but not all of the connections of posts 

and studs to the sill, principally on the south-

west side of the building.   However, if the sec-

ond floor were not part of the original building, 

it is difficult to see how the building could have 

accommodated a gin or a press.  In addition, it 

is significant that these splined connections are 

also found at other connections, suggesting 

that they are the result of later repairs to earlier 

monolithic connections.  Were it not for the 

1858 plat, which clearly identifies a gin in the vi-

cinity of the present building, it might be con-

cluded that the present building was built for 

another purpose and then later modified to ac-

commodate a gin.  That does not seem likely.

With its second floor in place, the building 

could have easily accommodated a gin, a lint 

room, and an indoor press.  Sills were not 

present originally on the east and west ends of 

the building, no doubt to allow passage of draft 

animals; only the center room, which must have 

been used as a "lint room," was floored.  A 

rectangular floor opening above the east side of 

the lint room appears to have been a drop for 

the cotton as it was ginned at the second floor 

level, similar to the arrangement of the gin at 

Westville. 

Framing details for the missing stairs that rose 

from Door D indicate they were part of the 

original construction of the building, giving ac-

cess to the second floor loading area for the 

original press which appears to have been lo-

cated at the east end of the building where the 

gin machinery is now located.  Framing for 

Door B, which opens on the north side of the 

lint room, and for Door C, which opened on 

the north side of the present gin room but was 

closed when the existing ginning equipment 

was installed, indicate that these were also 

original doors.  All three of these doors have 

similar wrought- iron hardware, hand- planed 

boards, and cross- braces with chamfered 

edges.  There is no conclusive evidence that any 

of the doors on the southwest side of the build-

UP

mule-powered
cotton
press

note 1

note 2

note 3
note 3

note 3

UP

Note

1.  The height of the framing for the second floor at 
this end of the building suggests that a 
mule-powered, horizontal drive gear could have 
been located in this area.

2.  Possible location of exterior stairs.  Although no 
evidence for these stairs has been located, the 
existing stairs to the second floor do not appear to 
be original and exterior stairs were typical in 
nineteenth century gin houses.

3.  The absence of mortised connections between 
present end sills and corner posts indicates that 
both ends of the barn were originally open.

lint room
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ing are original openings.  Physical evidence 

suggests that the original gin was a mule-  or 

horse- powered gin.  The lower second floor 

level at the west end of the building could easily 

have been constructed to accommodate the 

sort of mule- driven gears found at the 

Westville gin and that were typical for the pe-

riod.  Since the cistern is located at the east end 

of the building, it seems unlikely that the first 

gin, if it were located at the west end, was steam 

powered.  Physical evidence (except for possi-

ble archaeological evidence, which has not 

been investigated) for this sort of gin appears to 

have been obliterated when the present 

wooden screw press was installed at the west 

end of the building; but contemporaneous with 

this first gin must have been an earlier wooden 

screw press located at the east end of the build-

ing.  The surviving central beams at the east end 

of the building appear to have supported the 

same sort of indoor press that remains at the 

west end of the building, but the beams at the 

east end are set higher in the building and 

spaced closer together, indicating the use of a 

smaller press box there.  In addition, another 

salvaged beam is present in the added floor 

framing at the east end of the building;  its 

empty mortise suggests that it was part of a 

third cotton- press frame, although it may not 

have been part of the present building.

Steam Power, c. 1870

Exactly when Hertzog installed the first steam 

engine at his gin remains undocumented and a 

matter of debate.  It was certainly in place by 

1883 when Ambrose LeComte's succession in-

ventoried a “Chapley” steam engine at Magno-

lia and it may have been installed ten or fifteen 

years earlier.  The brick are larger and the mor-

tar harder in the existing brick engine base off 

the east end of the barn than in the cistern, 

which was presumably built to provide water 

for the first steam engine.  It is likely that the 

Chapley engine was replaced by the steam en-

gine that was removed in 1939 and which had 

been acquired to provide additional power to 

the gins and hydraulic press that Hertzog in-

stalled at the turn of the century.

No documentation has emerged that would al-

low precise dating of the present wood screw 

press.  However, its place in the evolutionary 

history of the building is  established through 

physical evidence and the limited historical ev-

idence that has come to light.  The press, with 

its rotating box, is a type for which there is no 

documentary evidence, although similar in-

door presses do not appear to have been built 

prior to the 1850s.  The only other surviving 

press of this type- - - the Goodman press now 

at Lubbock, Texas- - - was constructed near 

Tyler, Texas, in 1874.  The high quality of crafts-

manship in the Magnolia press, and the fact 

that it appears to have been the second press in 

the building, suggests that it may have been 

constructed around that time as well.  Hert-

zog's first steam- powered gin would not have 

included a steam- powered press, and it is rea-

sonable to conclude that the present wooden 

screw press was installed along with the first 

steam- powered gin, which certainly 
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Figure 10   Conjectured floor plan 
of Gin Barn after installation of first 
steam-powered equipment, c. 1870. 
(NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

occurred before 1883 and probably occurred 

ten or fifteen years earlier.  The lower second 

floor level at the west end of the building prob-

ably did not provide enough headroom for the 

new steam- powered ginning equipment, 

which was therefore installed at the east end of 

the building.  A new cotton press was then in-

stalled at the west end of the building, where 

the first gin had been located, with new interior 

stairs at Door A replacing what must have been 

exterior stairs to the second floor at the west 

end of the building.

The  Eclipse gin and condenser noted in 

LeComte's succession inventory in 1883 were 

probably powered by the Chapley steam engine 

that was noted in the same inventory.  That en-

gine could have been installed in the shed off 

the east end of the building depicted in the 

Walmsley plat, similar to the arrangement of 

the gin at Agrirama in Tifton, Georgia.  The Ea-

gle gin that remains in the building has been 

dated to around 1890 by Tommy Brown of the 

Continental Eagle Corporation and it, too, may 

have been powered by the Chapley steam en-

gine.

At an early date, a room appears to have been 

created in the southwest quadrant of the east 

side of the building next to the lint room.  It in-

cluded stairs to the second floor and two win-

dows on the south wall.  Prior to installation of 

the system gin, this room was extended to the 

east, probably in two stages and including an-

other window.  Elements of the timber frame 

for the first cotton press were incorporated in 

the floor framing of these extensions.  Since 

cotton seed was not considered valuable except 

for replanting until the mid- 1880s when its 

usefulness as a cooking oil was first demon-

strated, a seed room may not have been neces-

sary; but if it were, this added room was 

probably used as a seed room.49

B C D

H

mule-powered
cotton
press

UPUP

UP

base for
steam engine

approximate location of engine 
house

gin located at 
second floor level

seed room?

lint room

49.   Range, p. 156.
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Figure 11   Conjectured floor plan 
of Gin Barn after installation of 
“system gin” about 1895.  (NPS-
SERO-CRS, 2001

System Gin, c. 1895

It is not clear what change in circumstances in 

the late- 1890s allowed Matthew Hertzog to re-

build his house that was burned in 1864; but 

whatever those circumstances, they may have 

been a factor in his decision to renovate his Gin 

Barn around the same time.  As noted above, 

when the "system gin" and hydraulic press 

were installed around the turn of the century, 

the old mechanical cotton press was left in 

place to be used for baling hay.   However, there 

is physical evidence for several alterations that 

were made at the east end of the building to ac-

commodate the new ginning equipment.  

These included removal of a portion of the 

second floor for installation of the dual- box 

hydraulic press and removal of the room and 

stairs to the second floor in the southwest cor-

ner of the gin room.  The stairs remained at the 

northeast corner of the gin room.  A new open-

ing was created in the second floor, and a slide 

that was used to move the finished bales was 

constructed to Door B.50 It may have been at 

this time as well that arcades were added on 

both sides of the building, probably replacing 

the shed off the east end of the building that is 

depicted on the Walmsley plat.  Wagon loads of 

cotton could then be driven through the arcade 

on the north side where a large suction tube 

was used to transport the cotton from the wag-

ons to the gin on the second floor.

Hertzog's renovation also included "a seed 

house on the river bank," according to the 

Delacorda interview in 1941.   Keel's "Structure 

Group C" corresponds to the seed house loca-

tion recalled by Betty Hertzog and to Dela-

corda's description of the system in 1941.  In 

addition, Delacorda remembered that the new 
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50.    Differences in framing of openings in the 
second floor suggest which were original 
and which were later alterations.  Lumber 
used to frame the opening for the turnta-
ble, for instance, is similar to that used to 
close the stairwell in the southwest corner 
of the gin room.
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system included a "delivery pipe from the gin 

house to the seed house, a distance of one hun-

dred yards or more."  The large fan now under 

the south arcade apparently provided suction 

for moving cotton through the system while 

also being used to blow the seed from the Gin 

Barn through the delivery pipe to the seed 

house.  Alterations in 1939, 1982, and 1995 have 

obliterated evidence for the location and con-

figuration of this equipment, but the arrange-

ment may have been similar to that which is 

partially shown in Figure 27 in the “Physical 

Description” below.

Finally, to protect his investment, Hertzog may 

have replaced the original wood- shingled roof 

with metal roofing at this time, although that 

may not have occurred until the early twentieth 

century when Hertzog is known to have re-

roofed his store with metal.  The engine house 

was roofed with a standing- seam metal roof 

and the use of solid decking indicates it may 

never have had a wood- shingled roof.  Photo-

graphs of the interior of the Gin Barn in 1994 

clearly show the sort of widely- spaced, slab-

sawn decking one would expect with a mid-

nineteenth century wood- shingled roof.

Gin Barn, 1939

After Hertzog's turn- of- the- century renova-

tion of the Gin Barn, there were no more sig-

nificant alterations to the building before his 

death.  The steam engine is thought to have 

been converted to diesel power, but that re-

quired few, if any, changes to the building itself.  

The tornado that struck Magnolia early in 1939 

caused extensive damage and, as noted above, 

Hertzog made the decision to cease ginning 

operations at that time.  The building was, 

however, still useful as a hay barn and so re-

pairs were made to accommodate that use.  The 

engine house was cleared completely away ex-

cept for the brick foundation for the engine.  

Most significantly, both ends of the barn were 

completely enclosed at this time, except for a 

single door (since removed) at the west end of 

the building.  Joists and flooring were also 

added where there had been none at ground 

level at the west end of the building and on the 

north side of the east end.  The original stairs 

from Door D were also removed at this time 

and replaced by the present stairs near the 

southeast corner of the barn.  The opening for 

the slide for cotton bales near the north end of 

the old lint room was also closed at this time.

After World War II,  the Hertzogs continued to 

farm Magnolia, but mechanization slowly re-

placed the mules that had historically done 

much of the work.   This, in turn, reduced the 

need for hay, and well before Matthew Hertzog 

II died in 1973, the old gin barn was almost use-

less.   The same was true of many other historic 

buildings throughout the parish, especially ru-

ral landmarks and the farm- related structures 

that were rendered obsolete by the agricultural 

changes that swept the country in the mid-

twentieth century.  Around this time, the Hert-

zogs tore down the seed house.51

51.    Telephone interview with Betty Hertzog, 
June 2001.
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Figure 12   Floor plan of Gin Barn 
after repairs and conversion for hay 
storage in 1939.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 
2001)

Museum Contents, 1976

Museum Contents is a non- profit organization 

that was incorporated in September 1964 by a 

group of Natchitoches citizens to help preserve 

the parish's historical resources.  One of their 

first successes came in 1967 when they acquired 

the badly- deteriorated Aubin- Roque House 

(c. 1797) and moved it from its original site near 

Bermuda on Isle Brevelle to its present location 

between Front Street and the river in Natchi-

toches.  Ownership of real property was not the 

primary goal for Museum Contents, however.  

From the beginning, the organization saw its 

primary role as a "pass through" to other orga-

nizations who might be larger and better estab-

lished but who, for a variety of reasons, could 

not react quickly when collections or artifacts 

were offered for sale or when historic buildings 

were threatened.  Recognizing the significance 

of the plantation's buildings, the heirs of Mat-

thew Hertzog II decided in 1976 to donate the 

gin barn, the blacksmith shop, the plantation 

store, the overseer's house and the surviving 

slave houses to Museum Contents with a con-

current lease on the grounds.

In 1979 the gin barn and the other buildings at 

Magnolia were officially listed on the National 

Register of Historic Places, but plans to turn 

the working core of the plantation into a mu-

seum complex foundered for lack of funds.  

Following some storm damage in 1982, Mu-

seum Contents's president Robert B. DeBlieux 

was able to secure a $21,500 grant to repair the 

barn from the Louisiana Office of Culture, 

Recreation, and Tourism.  Work included re-

placement of perhaps one- third of the pole 

rafters on the building and repair of the metal 

roofing.   Replacement rafters were cut on the 

plantation.52

UP

A B C D

EFGHIJ

UP

steam-powered
cotton
press

mule-powered
hay press



P A R T  1      D E V E L O P M E N T A L  H I S T O R Y

HSR

Magnolia Gin Barn

http://crs.sero.nps.gov/historic/hsr/m
alu/e_sum

m
ary.htm

35

In 1986, the Historic American Building Survey 

(HABS) documented the gin barn and pro-

duced six sheets of measured drawings.53  In 

November 1994, Congress authorized the es-

tablishment of the Cane River Creole National 

Historical Park, and Museum Contents 

promptly donated its holdings at Magnolia to 

the park.

National Park Service, 1994

In the fall of 1994, Regional Director Robert 

Baker and others toured the Cane River area to 

familiarize themselves with the proposed na-

tional park.  During the course of that tour, sig-

nificant storm damage was discovered at the 

Magnolia Gin Barn.  Subsequent inspection of 

the building also revealed infestations of ter-

mites that had severely damaged portions of 

the roof, leading to fears that the roof was in 

imminent danger of collapse.  Ann Beha and 

Associates, nationally- recognized specialists in 

historic preservation, conducted a structural 

analysis of the building in the summer of 1995 

and issued recommendations for stabilizing the 

structure until an HSR could be completed.  At 

that time, too, it was mistakenly assumed that 

the entire roof structure had been replaced by 

Museum Contents in 1981.54  Contractor Frank 

Pavkov was awarded the contract for complete 

replacement of the roof (structure and cover-

ing) in October 1995; work was completed in 

February 1996.55

According to Ms. Hertzog, much of the floor-

ing from the second floor around the old cot-

ton press was scavenged by tenants for fire 

wood after World War II.  Photographs of the 

interior of the barn show that all or most of the 

second floor around the press was gone by the 

time Museum Contents made repairs to the 

building in 1982.

In 1986, the Historic American Buildings Sur-

vey (HABS #1193A) recorded the structure with 

six sheets of drawings and a number of photo-

graphs (see Appendix).  Nearly all of the floor-

ing remained intact at the first floor level when 

the building was recorded by HABS in 1986.  In 

order to provide access for termite treatment 

around the building's foundation, some of the 

flooring was removed prior to 1995.  The re-

mainder of the flooring on the first floor was 

taken up for the same reason in 1996 and 

stored.  It has since mostly disappeared.

In 1996, the Historic American Engineering 

Record (HAER) recorded the gin and presses 

with five sheets of drawings and a narrative de-

scribing their operation.56   These are included 

in the Appendix to the present report.

52.   "Historic Cotton Press Unveiled This 
Week,"  The Natchitoches Times, 6 Novem-
ber 1983.

53.    HABS# LA-1193-A.
54.    Jean Lafitte National Historical Park and 

Preserve, "Magnolia Plantation Cotton Gin 
Barn Report," December 9, 1994.

55.    Contract #1443IB500095051.
56.    HAER# LA-11.
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Magnolia Gin Barn

1835 Gasparite LaCour sells land on which gin house is located to Ambrose 
LeComte- - "documents commenting on this acquisition mention a gin 
house, dwellings, and outbuildings.  The cotton gin accommodated a 
raised gin stand, holding areas, and a save room for the lint.a

1845 Gin house and stand were valued at $2,800.  "Since a gin was referred to 
in the 1835 deed, its 1845 appraisal suggests that LeComte may have 
enlarged and outfitted the gin house with expensive machinery; this may 
have included the mule- operated, screw- type cotton press, which is still 
in place."b

1852 Matthew Hertzog marries Ambrose LeComte's daughter Atala; Magnolia 
produces 479 bales of cotton (combined yield from all LeComte planta-
tions is 854).

1856 Worker “burnt in press” at Magnolia.

1858 Plat of Magnolia is surveyed and recorded by Ambrose Lecomte II; shows 
“Gin” in place.

1860 Magnolia gin produces over eleven hundred, 400- pound bales of cotton.

1864 Mar 26 Cotton burned at Magnolia.

Mar 31 First- Tenth- Twentyninth Maine passes Magnolia where fire was still 
“blazing” after five days.

Apr 22 Federal troops camp at Magnolia; Big House is burned.

1870 Magnolia produces 213 bales of cotton.

1883 Ambrose LeComte II dies; inventory shows Chapley steam engine and an 
Eclipse gin stand and condenser in Gin Barn.

1883- 85 Munger develops “system ginning,” whose concept and technology are 
still in use today.

1889 Aug 23 Patent date of present Continental gin in Gin Barn.

1895 Matthew Hertzog buys parts in New Orleans for Eagle ginc.

1897 Big House rebuilt.

c. 1900 Installation of present Continental Gin outfitd.

1903 May 25 Matthew Hertzog dies (b. 1829).

1908 First dam on Cane River ends river traffic.

1919 Cotton prices peak at 43 cents a pound.
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1921 Magnolia produces 280 bales of cotton.

1927 Great Flood sweeps Mississippi Delta and Red River Valley, including 
Cane River.

1939 Jan Tornado destroys engine house; relatively minor damage to Gin Barn.

1973 Matthew Hertzog, Jr., dies.

1976 Hertzogs donate Gin Barn, slave house, blacksmith house, store, and 
overseer’s house to Museum Contents, Inc.

1978 Seed house razed.

1979 Gin Barn and other buildings at Magnolia listed on National Register of 
Historic Places.

1983 $21,500 grant from Louisiana Office of Culture, Recreation, and Tourism 
to Museum Contents to “restore” gin barn; repairs to pole rafters and 
replacement of one- third of metal roofe.

1986 Historic American Building Survey documents Gin Barn.

1994 Museum Contents donates Gin Barn to NPS.

1995 Historic Engineering Record documents gins and press.

Jun- Jul SEAC’s archaeological survey;  Beha structural investigation and analysis.

1996 spring Replacement of entire roof system and most foundation piers compelted.

a.  Keel, p. 24.
b.  Ibid.
c.  Letter from Ambrose Hertzog, Jr., to Charlie Thompson, Continental/Eagle Corp., 2 December 1989.  

Hertzog states that “we have records” indicating this purchase; Robert DeBlieux Coll., Cammie Henry 
Research Center, Watson Memorial Library, Northwestern State University of Louisiana.

d.  Letter from Tommy Brown, Continental Eagle Corporation, to Ambrose Hertzog, Jr., 18 December 
1989, Robert Deblieux Coll.

e.  “Historic Cotton Press Unveiled This Week,” The Natchitoches Times, 6 November 1983.

Magnolia Gin Barn
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Physical 
Description

The Gin Barn is located near the southern boundary of the Mag-

nolia Plantation unit of the Cane River Creole National Historical 

Park.  Situated about 225 feet east of Hwy. 119, the building is a 

two- story, wood- framed, end- gabled building with a metal roof 

and set on low brick piers.  The building is rectangular, measuring 

approximately 89 feet east to west and approximately 38 feet north 

to south, plus arcades 9'- 8" wide that run down both sides of the 

structure.

Internally, the first floor level is divided into three spaces, with 

ginning equipment at the east end, the wooden- screw cotton 

press at the west end, and what was probably a "lint room" in the 

center.  Framed openings in the ceiling apparently formed 

“drops” for the ginned cotton prior to the installation of the Mu-

nger system gin.  The second floor, which is reached by a set of 

stairs from the north arcade and by a set from the east end of the 

machinery room, was originally divided into two spaces.  At the 

Note: A plan of the existing 
building along with eleva-
tions and framing diagrams 
are included at the end of 
this section.
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Figure 13   View of Gin Barn from 
northeast, with cistern visible in 
foreground. (NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

Figure 14   View of Gin Barn from 
southwest.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

east end of the second floor are the gin stands, 

condensers, hydraulic  press, and other ele-

ments from the Munger system gin, the last 

generation of ginning equipment in the build-

ing.  The second floor at the west end, which 

has been largely removed, is set about two feet 

below that at the east end and originally formed 

a loading floor around the wood- screw press.  

Another room has also been identified on the 

south side of the machinery room, as evidenced 

Figure 15   View north in center  
room, originally used as a lint room.  
(NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

by floor framing and the building's only in-

stance of a vertically- paneled wall.  The inte-

rior partition walls for this room were probably 

dismantled when the Munger system was in-

stalled at the turn of the century.

Foundation

The structure is set on a series of low brick 

piers, with the exception of a single post at the 

east end of the building, which is set on a large 

stone placed at grade level.  The twenty- two 

perimeter piers were rebuilt on concrete foot-

ings in 1996; and, although the mortar was lost, 

the original brick were re- used.  Low, historic, 

brick piers also support some of the building's 

internal sills; the piers on either side of the lint 

room are nearly below grade.  Brick for piers 

are generally 2" to 2¼" by 8" by about 4". 

The overall dimension of the foundation for the 

steam- powered press is approximately 10'- 2" 

by 4'- 7".  The foundation is composed 
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Figure 16   View southeast in 
machinery room, in probable 
location of original seed room.  
(NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

of four separate piers, the two at the north end 

being 18" by 30" and the two at the south end 

being 17½" by 48".  Brick measure about 2" by 

8½" by 4".

At the east end of the building is an older gen-

eration of piers that do not appear to relate to 

anything in the present building, although they 

might have been associated with the first cotton 

press or, perhaps, the first generation of steam 

equipment.  Two of these piers are located near 

the center of the space.  One is about 16" by 24", 

12" high, and is lying on its side.  The other, 

which is just behind the toppled pier, is about 

12" by 24" with only two courses above grade.  

It is set at an angle that does not appear to re-

late to the present building.  There may be 

other piers on the east side of the brick base to 

the steam press, but archeology will be neces-

sary to confirm that.  Curiously, the corners of 

both of the visible brick 

Figure 17   View of early brick piers 
under machinery room floor.  (NPS-
SERO-CRS, 2001)

Figure 18   View of northeast 
corner of barn, showing brick pier 
rebuilt in 1996.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 
2001)

piers are smoothly rounded; this rounding does 

not appear to be the result of erosion but rather 

of abrasion and wear.

Structural System

The Gin Barn is a timber- framed building with 

a combination of hewn and circular- sawn 
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Figure 19   View of tpyical sill and 
post with historic splined 
connection intact.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 
2001)

Figure 20   View of typical beam/
post connection, reinforced with 
metal brackets in 1996.  (NPS-SERO-
CRS, 2001)

framing members.  All of the historic material is 

cypress.  The engineering report in the Beha 

study (see Appendix E) stated that “in almost 

all cases, the original or replacement cypress 

timber frame was essentially free from termite 

damage.”  Where damage was present, “there 

Figure 21   View of floor framing at 
east end of Gin Barn.  (NPS-SERO-
CRS, 2001)

was little to imply a reduction of load capac-

ity.57  Connections were originally made using 

traditional mortise- and- tenon connections.  

At the second floor level, the connection of 

girders to posts is accomplished by a unique 

splined connection pegged into place.  Some of 

these connections were later reinforced by 

bolts and rectangular iron plates.  As part of the 

stabilization work in 1995, the splines at all sec-

ond floor connections were replaced and rein-

forced again by large metal U- brackets let into 

and bolted through the girders.  The splined 

connection was also used in the connection of 

some posts and braces to the sill at the first 

floor level, particularly on the south side of the 

57.    See Appendix E, Silman engineering 
report, p. 3.
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Figure 22   Ceiling in “lint room,” 
showing framed opening for 
ginned cotton from first or second 
generation gin at second floor level.  
(NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

building; and most of these connections remain 

intact.  That the splined connection was used at 

some but not all of the first floor level connec-

tions suggests that all were made after the 

building's original construction. 

Sills, Girders, and Posts: Sills, girders, and posts 

are all hewn and generally 9" to 10" by 11" to 12", 

except at the building's ends where substan-

tially smaller sills were used to infill what were 

originally the barn's open ends.  The sill at the 

south side of the center “lint room” has empty 

square mortises, and another section of the sill 

on the south side of the gin room contains 

empty dove- tail mortises.  Both of these sills 

were apparently salvaged from another build-

ing as were some members of the internal floor 

framing.  As the HAER documentation (1996) 

noted, the building “appears to have been con-

structed at one time, rather than added to over 

Figure 23   View of framing 
members in floor at east end of gin 
barn, with  end of hewn beam 
visible at center, presumably from 
first cotton presss.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 
2001)

Figure 24   View of framing in lint 
room ceiling for cotton bale slide 
which was added along with new 
hydraulic press around 1900.  (NPS-
SERO-CRS, 2001)

a period of years or decades” and the character 

of sills, beams, and posts “are consistent with 

same- date construction.”58

58.    Historic American Engineering Record 
#LA-11, p. 5.
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Figure 25   View of southwest 
corner of barn; wall at right was 
added in the late nineteenth or 
early twentieth century.  (NPS-SERO-
CRS, 2001)

Near the center of the east end is a single large 

post that is 7" by 10" and unlike other posts, it 

appears to sit directly on the ground.  The sill at 

the south end of the east side is 5½" by 9" and is 

mortised into the corner post at the southeast 

corner and into the center post that runs to the 

ground.  The other two posts at the south end 

of the east wall are each about 8" by 8" and are 

set with their inside face flush with the inside 

face of the sill, lapping over the outside face of 

the sill and fixed with 1- inch bolts.

Previous inspections have indicated that the 

arcade posts were replaced in 1981; but a closer 

inspection during the present study shows that 

at least some of the posts on the south side of 

the building may date to repairs in 1939.

Joists:  There is a combination of  hewn and cir-

cular- sawn joists in the building.  The lint 

room at the center of the building was the only 

part of the first floor of the barn that was origi-

nally floored.  In the lint room, flooring, which 

is now missing, was laid on ten roughly- hewn 

joists, approximately 7" by 8" and running east 

and west.  Joists are set on centers 38” to 50” 

apart and are mortised into the sills.  Except for 

the last three at the south end, joists are resting 

on a log sleeper set on low brick piers that are 

nearly flush with the ground.  Some of these 

have been partially buried by armadillos or 

other burrowing animals.

The second floor is framed with circular- sawn 

joists running east and west.  The floor around 

the cotton press is set about two feet below the 

floor above the lint room and gin room at the 

east end of the building, probably to accom-

modate different machinery.   Joists at the west 

end of the second floor around the cotton press 

are approximately 5" to 6" by 9" to 10", 11’ to 12’ 

long, and are set on centers approximately 36" 

to 39" apart.  Joists at the east end and above 

the lint room are a similar size but range from a 

little over 8’ in length to nearly 14’ and are set 

on 38" to 39" centers.  Joists are mortised into 

the hewn beams at each end of the building and 

on the east side of the lint room.  On the west 

side of the lint room, the floor joists are let into 

the studs in the wall on that side of the room.  

Joists are also let into the pair of beams that 

support the cotton press at the west end of the 

building and into the pair of similar beams that 

at one time supported a cotton press at the east 

end.  The two beams that support the existing 

press are about 9½" by 13½" and 9" by 12" and 

are set about 11’- 2" apart, inside face to inside 

face.  The two beams that supported the miss-
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ing press at the east end are slightly larger, 

around 10" by 15", and are set closer together, 

approximately 99” apart inside face to inside 

face.  All of the beams associated with the cot-

ton presses are finely finished and hand-

planed, unlike any of the other beams in the 

building. The end of one of the old cotton press 

beams at the east end of the building is visible 

in a photograph from 1994 and shows cham-

fered edges at the end of the beam, similar to 

the chamfered edges of the cross braces on the 

earliest doors in the building.  Previous changes 

have replaced most of the historic connections 

between the beams, eliminating one clue that 

might have indicated which, if either, of the 

cotton presses was contemporaneous with the 

main frame of the building.  

The floor framing on the south side of the first 

floor at the east end appears to have been 

added in two stages, although it is possible that 

the westernmost section of this framing was 

contemporaneous with construction of the 

building.  The two girders for this floor were 

salvaged from elsewhere.  One has empty mor-

tises (39" on centers and 3½" by 4" by 2") in 

addition to the mortises for the existing rough-

hewn joists, which are about 7"by 8".  At the 

east end on the south side, floor joists are mor-

tised into the sills, but only two of the present 

joists are historic.  These two are splayed or an-

gled to meet the sill between the large posts in 

the east end wall.  The last two joists in this sec-

tion of the floor are full- dimen

Figure 26   View to southeast 
showing part of east end of barn; 
note empty mortises for framing 
around missing stairway.  (NPS-
SERO-CRS, 2001)

sioned 2" by 6" joists that do not fit the mor-

tises and were probably installed in 1939 to 

support the stairs that were built at the same 

time.

A rectangular opening (about 5’by 10’) once 

existed in the second floor framing at the 

southwest corner of the gin room.  Presumably 

created for stairs, the opening appears to have 

been contemporaneous with the floor system 

on the south side of the gin room.  Similarities 

in the material used to close the opening indi-

cate that these stairs were removed when the 

existing steam- powered system gin was in-

stalled.  Three empty mortises in the second-

floor sill at the south end of the gin room are 

good evidence that the existing gin and press 

were not contemporaneous with the building's 

original construction.
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Figure 27    View of original pole-
rafter roof in 1995.  (NPS-SERO-
Architecture, 1995)

Figure 28   Detail of typical ridge 
connection in original roof, from 
partial rafters now in CARI 
Collection.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

Braces, Studs, and Plates:  Braces, studs and 

plates are circular sawn and variable in size.  

Sizes are random and include 2" by 6", 2½" by 

4", 2½" by 4½", 3" by 6", 4" by 5", 4" by 6", and 

5" by 7".  The top plates of the side walls are 

made with 6½" by 10" lumber.  A few studs on 

the sides near the west end of the building have 

Figure 29   View of south dormer 
with original framing and decking 
intact.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

been replaced with 5” poles.  All or nearly all of 

the studs at the east and west ends of the build-

ing are modern replacements of the originals. 

Roof

Earlier descriptions of the building's roof have 

sometimes been based on assumptions that 

were incorrect, particularly that the roof fram-

ing was completely replaced in 1981, reusing 

some of the original framing members.  In an 

interview with NPS staff in April 2001, Bobby 

Deblieux, then- president of Museum Con-

tents, stated that only about one- third of the 

roof was rebuilt at that time.   Inspection of the 

surviving rafter ends indicates intact nine-

teenth century joinery, another indication that 

the entire roof was not removed in 1981. 
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The original roof was entirely removed in 1995, 

but photographs show that it was originally 

framed with twenty- nine pairs of pole rafters, 

set on centers approximately 36” apart.  Betty 

Hertzog remembers these rafters being a com-

bination of cypress and black locust.59   In ad-

dition, two of the original pole rafters (both 

cypress), complete with lapped- and- pegged 

ridge connection, have been preserved by the 

park and, as noted in the previous section, offer 

important clues to the building's origins.

In 1995, the original pole rafters on the main 

roof were replaced by the existing rafters, 

which are 6" by 8", pressure- treated pine, set 

on centers 36” to 42” apart.  Collar beams are 

the same size, with the connection reinforced 

by metal T- shaped plates.  On the arcades, the 

rafters are 3" by 6" set on an outside beam 5½" 

by 7¼".  Roofing is corrugated steel, specified as 

18 gauge and attached with 1½" self- tapping, 

hex- head, galvanized wood screws with sealing 

washers.  Only the framing and decking of the 

two dormer roofs appears not to have been re-

placed in 1995.

Flooring and Siding

All of the flooring at the first floor level has dis-

appeared except for fragments remaining un-

der the sole plate at the south end of the lint 

room.   Flooring at the second floor is typically 

9" to 11" wide, generally ¾" thick. 

Figure 30   View southwest of roof 
framing installed in 1996.  (NPS-
SERO-CRS, 2001

Figure 31   View of original 
flooring at south side of lint room.  
(NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

The east and west ends of the building are sided 

with ¾" by 6" lapped siding, some of which was 

installed in 1939 but most of which dates to the 

1980s.  On the long sides of the building under 

the arcades, boards ¾" thick 
59.    Interview with Ms. Betty Hertzog, May 

2001.
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Figure 32   View of north side of 
building, showing typical open 
siding.  Note that siding near center 
is attached to the interior face of 
the studs.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

Figure 33   View of Door A, added 
to second floor around cotton press.  
(NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

Figure 34   View of Door D, one of 
the oldest doors in the barn.  (NPS-
SERO-CRS, 2001)

and 5" to 6" wide are spaced 4" to 5" apart.  On 

the north side of the building, most of this sid-

ing is installed on the exterior of the framing; 

on the south side, most is installed on the inte-

rior of the framing.  The use of wire nails gen-

erally distinguishes replacement siding from 

1939 or later; earlier siding is attached with cut 

nails. 

Windows and Doors

Door A:  4'- 7" by 7'- 7"; constructed with wire 

nails and ¾" boards, 6- ½" to 6¾" wide; rim 

lock, 6" x 3- ¼" by 7/8"; metal strap hinges (¼" 

stock), 14- ½" by 1- ½".

Door B:  4'- 8" by 7'- 7"; constructed with cut 

nails and ¾" boards, 9", 11- ¾", and 11- 7/8" 

wide; boards are hand planed; top cross brace 
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has chamfered edges; rim lock, 9-  ½" by 4- ¾" 

by 1- ½", bolted not screwed to door; 2- ½" by 

5" ghost of diamond- shaped escutcheon simi-

lar to extant plate on Door D; modern repairs 

with screws.

Door C:  3'- 1" by 7'- 7", 1½" by 9" strap hinges, 

chamfered edges on cross brace; no lock set 

ever installed.

Door D:   5'- 0" by 8'- 1", 32" strap hinges; cut 

nails; rim lock, 4- 7/8" by 9- ½" by 1- 3/8", trian-

gular escutcheon (similar to door B); boards are 

5/8" x 11½" to 12"; cross braces out of 1" stock, 

top and bottom 9- 3/8" wide, diagonal 10¼" 

wide, all with chamfered edges.

Door E:  3'- 7½" by 7- 1½", 14½" strap hinges, cut 

nails; actual opening goes to 8'.

Window F:  4'- 10" x 2'- 11", 11" hinges- - - not 

used after installation of steam press since 

some of equipment runs through it.  Hinged on 

right (east) jamb.

Door G:  2'- 10" by 6'- 11", originally had 14" 

strap hinges, replaced by modern hinges nailed 

in place with wire nails; hinged on left (west) 

jamb; door is constructed similar to Door D 

above; opening was originally constructed as a 

window with sash like Window H below.

Window H:  2'- 10½" by 4'- 9", similar hinges to 

F but no shutter; hinged on left (west) jamb; 

opening was originally fitted with sash

.Door I:  3'- 5" by 7'- 0", 11" hinges, like window 

hinges.

Figure 35   View of hinge and 
escutcheon on Door D.  (NPS-SERO-
CRS, 2001)

Figure 36   View of window H, 
which originally had sash but was 
closed when existin g gin machinery 
was installed c. 1900.  (NPS-SERO-
CRS, 2001)

Door J:  3’- 6” by 7’- 6”, strap hinges, detached 

from original position.
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Figure 37   View to southwest of 
brick foundation for steam engine.  
(NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

Figure 38   View of belt-driven 
flywheels at esat end of barn, which 
would have been connected by 
leather belts to the engine outside 
the building and to the machinery 
inside.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

Steam Engine

Keel's archaeological investigation of Magnolia 

in 1999 revealed evidence of two other struc-

tures, both now missing, in the vicinity of the 

Gin Barn.60  His “Structure Group A,” which is 

located about nine feet off the east end of the 

Gin Barn, was part of the engine house that was 

destroyed in the 1939 tornado.  Depicted in a 

photograph taken shortly after the tornado, this 

structure was wood- framed, had a standing-

seam metal roof, and appears to have consisted 

of two separate sections, the eastern section 

housing the boiler and the western section, 

which was slightly lower, housing the engine it-

self.  The only above- ground feature remaining 

from that structure is the brick base to which 

the engine was bolted.  Measuring approxi-

mately 36" wide, 110" long, and 19" high, this 

feature consists of several courses of brick 

(generally 4" by 8½" by 2") into which 1- inch 

threaded steel rods were set to attach the en-

gine.

Since the building that housed the boiler and 

steam engine that powered the gin was de-

stroyed in 1939 and the equipment subse-

quently sold, very little of the gin's power 

system remains.  The most notable features are 

part of the brick base to the steam engine, lo-

cated just east of the building, and the large 

wooden wheels and drive shafts that remain in 

the east end of the barn.  Repair and residing of 

the east end barn after the 1939 tornado oblit-

erated a number of openings through which 

thedrive belts ran from the engine house to the 

machinery inside the barn.   

Cotton Gin

The existing cotton ginning machinery is a typ-

ical “Munger system” gin, most of it installed 

around 1900.  As noted in the HAER report 60.    Keel, pp. 60-61.
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Figure 39   View of diassembled 
Eagle gin stand in northwest corner 
of first floor.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

(see Appendix C), most of its components are 

present although the cotton suction apparatus 

is almost completely disassembled.  The pnue-

matic elevator includes the fan now lying out-

side under the south arcade, various flue ducts 

lying around the second floor, and the vacuum 

box or separator, which is detached and lying 

under the condenser but was originally at-

tached to the distributor above the gin stand.  

Both gin stands remain intact on the second 

floor.  However, replacement of the roof in 

1996 and of much of the siding in 1939 and 1982 

has obliterated most evidence for how the gin's 

power train connected to the engine house and 

how seed was discarded from the system and 

transported to the seed house.

In addition to this equipment, which was used 

until 1939, an older Eagle gin stand is lying in 

the northwest corner of the gin room end of the 

barn and parts of its associated equipment may 

have been incorporated into the present system 

gin.  Representatives of the Continental Gin 

Company have noted that any equipment

Figure 40   View of portion of 
Munger system gin machinery on 
second floor of barn.  (NPS-SERO-
CRS, 2001)

Figure 41   View of Continental gin 
stand on second floor.  (NPS-SERO-
CRS, 2001)

carrying the imprint of their company must 

date after 1899, when Continental was formed 

by consolidation of several companies.  The 

Eagle Gin was apparently the second stand 

used in the Gin Barn, replacing the Eclipse gin 

that was mentioned in the 1887 inventory and 

perhaps  installed when the building was first 

constructed.
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Figure 42   View west under south 
arcade, showing blowers and other 
equipment associated with c. 1900 
system gin.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

Hydraulic Cotton Press

The dual- box hydraulic cotton press was also 

installed around 1900.  Like the gin machinery, 

the hydraulic press remains almost completely 

intact.  Two stories high, the press is supported 

by four large brick piers which frame the hy-

draulic cylinder resting on wood beams in the 

valve pit at grade level.  The two press boxes, 

which revolved so that one could be filled while 

the other was being emptied, are located on the 

second floor along with a cylinder with a ram 

for tamping the cotton as the box was filled, 

prior to the action of the upward- charging ram 

from the cylinder below, which actually pressed 

the cotton into bales. 

Wood-Screw Cotton Press

As noted in previous sections of this report, the 

wood- screw cotton press in the east end of the 

Gin Barn is one of only six such presses that

Figure 43   View of hydraulic 
cylinder and supporting brick piers 
for press.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

Figure 44   View east of dual-box, 
hydraulic press at second floor, with 
gin stand visible in background.  
(NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001

remain in existence and is the only one that re-

mains intact on its original location.  The press 

was state- of- the- art when it was constructed; 

but was still handcrafted except perhaps for 

some manufactured hardware.  It consists of 

three main parts:  a large timber frame, a mov-

able yoke and screw assembly, and a pivoting 

press box assembly.  Resting on a pair of girders 

mortised into posts on either side of the build-

ing, the massive cypress frame is about 12'- 3" 
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wide and, stabilized by four long diagonal 

beams, rises almost to the ridge of the barn 

roof.  The oak screw, which is about 16" in di-

ameter, is secured at the top to the yoke, which 

the HAER report describes as a “fish- belly 

shaped timber,” and, at the bottom, to the 

platen at the top of the press box.  The yoke it-

self slides up and down in slots cut into the in-

side face of the timber upright supports.  The 

press box assembly rests on an iron pivot and 

consists of upright timbers inclined slightly in-

ward, a cross arm through which the screw is 

threaded, and upper and lower boxes, both of 

which have gates and movable end rails and 

base.  The precise nature of the foundation for 

the press has not been determined.

Associated Site Features

Engine House:  Keel’s archaeological investiga-

tion of Magnolia in 1999 revealed evidence of 

two other sturctures, both now missing, in the 

vicinity of the Gin Barn.61  “Structure Group 

A,” which he found close to the east end of the 

Gin Barn, must be the engine house that was 

destroyed in the 1939 tornado.  Depicted in a 

photograph taken shortly after the tornado, this 

structure was wood- framed and appears to 

have consisted of two separate sections, the 

eastern section housing the boiler and the 

western section, which was slightly lower, 

housing the engine itself.  The only above-

ground feature remaining from that structure is 

the brick base to which the engine was bolted.  

Measuring approximately  36" wide, 

Figure 45   View of top frame of 
wood-screw cotton press, which 
would have orginally been 
surrounded by flooring.  (NPS-SERO-
CRS, 2001)

Figure 46   View of cotton press at 
ground level, showing door where 
finished bale was removed.  (NPS-
SERO-CRS, 2001

110" long, and 19" high, this feature consists of 

several courses of brick (generally 4" by 8½" by 

2- 3/8") into which 1” threaded steel rods were 
61.   Keel, pp. 60-61.
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Figure 47   View to northeast of 
cistern at Gin Barn.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 
2001)

Figure 48   View of Prud’hommes’ 
gin at Oakland, showing elevated 
flue to transport seed from gin to 
seed house.  A similar apparatus 
would have been used at the 
Magnolia gin, but has now 
disappeared.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)

Other Archaeological Features:  Keel did not 

identify the structure that created “Structure 

Group B,” which is located about 75 feet south-

east of the Gin Barn, but historical evidence 

suggests that this was a structure associated 

with an earlier ginning operation.  A ginning 

operation appears to have existed in the vicin-

ity of the present barn when Ambrose 

LeComte acquired the property in 1835 and this 

structure group could represent the site of that 

first gin house or of a typical outdoor cotton 

press withwhich it would have been associated.  

The area surveyed during the 1999 archaeolog-

ical investigation did not include the foot print 

of the present barn where other archaeological 

resources appear to be located.  Investigation of 

this area has been proposed and, when com-

pleted, may shed light on the variety of ginning 

operations that appears to have occurred on 

the site.

Cistern:  A single cylindrical cistern, most likely 

constructed when the first steam- powered 

equipment was installed in the barn, is situated 

just off the northeast corner of the Gin Barn.  

Measuring about 16 feet deep and 15 feet in di-

ameter, it has a volume of about 105 cubic yards, 

giving it a capacity of approximately 21,150 gal-

lons.62  The brick for the cistern are generally 

4¼" by 9" by 2" and are laid in alternating 

courses of headers and stretchers.  These brick 

and the mortar in which they are laid are sig-

nificantly different from that found in the 

nearby brick engine base, suggesting that they 

are not contemporaneous with one another.  

Although none of the mortars have undergone 

62.    Dimensions were furnished by Keel.
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lab analysis, the mortar in the engine base is 

clearly a Portland- cement type mortar, an in-

dication that the cistern may be the older of the 

two structures, although it probably postdates 

the building itself, whose piers were con-

structed with a soft lime mortar.

Seed House:  One of the most visible compo-

nents of the Magnolia ginning operation has 

been lost entirely, except for possible archaeo-

logical remains:  the seed house.  After the 

1880s, cotton seed oil became an important 

commodity and one of the features of most 

plantation gins like those at Magnolia and at 

Oakland was a separate seed house with an ele-

vated flue that transported seed from the gin to 

the seed house.  No photographs have been lo-

cated of the Magnolia Gin Barn prior to 1939, 

when the flue to the seed house was destroyed 

or dismantled along with the engine house.  

The seed house itself stood until the 1970s and 

is remembered by Ms. Betty Hertzog as having 

been located just north of the gate to Hwy 119 at 

the southern end of the park unit.
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Figure 49   Plan of existing site.  
(NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)
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Figure 50   Elevations showing 
framing details.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 
2001)
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Figure 51   Plan of existing floor 
framing.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 2001)
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Figure 52   Plan of existing second 
floor framing.  (NPS-SERO-CRS, 
2001)
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P A R T  2      T R E AT M E N T  &  U S E

Introduction

The Gin Barn at Magnolia Plantation is a large building, occupy-

ing a footprint of approximately 38' by 88' or about 3,334 square 

feet.  With two stories and a roof ridge nearly 32' above the 

ground, the structure dominates the landscape at the southern 

end of Magnolia Plantation and is the first structure that many 

visitors see upon arrival.  For at least 130 years, the building has 

been one of the major character- defining elements of the cultural 

landscape at Magnolia Plantation and is one of the most signifi-

cant buildings in Cane River National Historical Park.  The park's 

general management plan notes that part of the park's significance 

is its representation of "a succession of agricultural and labor sys-

tems, changing technologies, and evolving social practices over 

three centuries" and the Gin Barn is a critical part of that picture.1

1.    National Park Service, Cane River Creole National Historical 
Park General Management Plan and Environmental Impact 
Statement, Louisiana, (NPS, January 2001), p. 21.
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As pointed out in the GMP, the ginning equip-

ment and the wood- screw cotton press are ex-

tremely rare and valuable industrial artifacts.  

Very few of Munger's system cotton gins have 

survived, and only part of the Magnolia system 

remains intact.  However, a few system gins 

have been preserved and even restored to op-

eration, including the ones at Agrirama in Tif-

ton, Georgia; at Old Alabama Town in 

Montgomery, Alabama; and at the Burton Cot-

ton Gin Museum in Burton, Texas.  In March 

2000, a restored gin also went on display at the 

Louisiana State Cotton Museum in Lake Provi-

dence, Louisiana.  The wood- screw cotton 

press is rarer still, being one of only six surviv-

ing wood- screw presses.  The Magnolia press 

is also one of only two indoor presses and it is 

the only one that remains completely intact in 

its original location.  

The GMP calls out the cotton gins and the 

wood- screw press as "the significant resources 

in the Gin Barn" and designates them as "the 

focus of interpretation."2  However, given what 

has been learned during the course of the 

present study, the focus might be restated to 

also clearly recognize the importance of the 

building itself and its evolution in response to 

changes in ginning technology.  The combina-

tion of a gin and a cotton press in the same 

building in the third quarter of the nineteenth 

century was a critical advance in the develop-

ment of plantation gins and the Gin Barn at 

Magnolia is an outstanding example of that 

type of building.

Unfortunately, significant components of the 

Magnolia gin complex no longer exist, includ-

ing the engine house, which was destroyed by a 

tornado in 1939, and the seed house, which was 

taken down by the Hertzogs in the 1970s.  Re-

pairs to the Gin Barn in 1939, 1982, and 1996 

also eliminated much of the evidence for pre-

cisely how the Gin Barn was connected to these 

buildings.

In addition, in 1996, the condition of the roof 

structure was deemed to be beyond repair and 

was replaced, which significantly compromised 

the historic character of the building.  At 

present, the building is not safe for visitors, 

with all of the flooring missing at ground level 

and much of it gone from the second floor as 

well.  A recent engineering study has even 

raised questions about the stability of the 

structure itself.

This section of the historic structure report is 

intended to show how a plan for treatment and 

use of the Gin Barn at Magnolia can be imple-

mented with minimal adverse affect on the his-

toric building while still addressing the 

problems that exist with the current structure 

and its proposed use.  The first section ad-

dresses the ultimate treatment and use as pro-

posed in the park's GMP and is followed by a 

section that addresses legal requirements and 

other mandates that circumscribe treatment of 

the building. With this background, there fol-2.    Cane River GMP, p. 48.
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lows an evaluation of the various treatment op-

tions, concluding with a more- detailed 

description and recommendations for treat-

ment and use.



I n t r o d u c t i o n

SERO

National Park Service
66



P A R T  2      T R E AT M E N T  &  U S E

HSR

Magnolia Gin Barn

http://crs.sero.nps.gov/historic/hsr/m
alu/e_sum

m
ary.htm

67

Ultimate Treatment 
& Use

The park's GMP proposes ultimate treatment and use of the Gin 

Barn for exhibit and interpretation.  While visitors to Oakland 

Plantation would experience more interpreter- led programs and 

demonstrations about the working plantation, visitors to Magno-

lia would have “a quieter, more contemplative discovery experi-

ence that would be based primarily on the integrity and character 

of the site's landscape and on interpretive media such as bro-

chures, wayside exhibits, or taped tours.”3  Some onsite interpre-

tation of ongoing research or preservation projects at Magnolia 

would occur, gradually phasing out as work is completed.  Also, 

the GMP envisioned that special events would be held at the 

plantation several times a year.4  However, unlike the slave quar-

ters, the blacksmith's shop, the pigeonnier, and carriage house, 

which are to be preserved and interpreted from the outside with 

no visitor access to the interior, the GMP proposes that visitors 

have controlled access to the Gin Barn in order to see the cotton 

ginning and press equipment.  Wayside exhibits or other suitable 

media would be used to help interpret cotton processing.5

3.    Cane River GMP, p. v
4.    Cane River GMP, p. 42.
5.    Cane River GMP, p. 48.
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The GMP set preservation of park resources as 

one of the primary mission goals for Cane River 

Creole National Historical Park.  Equally im-

portant is “providing for the visitor's experi-

ence of the plantations as a reflection of the 

continuum of their associated history in a way 

that allows them to understand the relationship 

of various plantation features to the broad 

range of the site's history.”6  To do this, the 

GMP identified a number of interpretive 

themes, three of which are particularly relevant 

to treatment of the Gin Barn:

• the landscapes and structures of Cane 

River Creole NHP are the result of the 

adaptations of various peoples to the 

natural environment, to available tech-

nologies, and to each other

• both plantations survived because of 

the dedication of plantation residents 

and their ability to respond to changing 

conditions

• mechanization resulted in an exodus of 

peoples traditionally associated with 

Oakland and Magnolia and a way of 

life was gone forever.7

6.    Cane River GMP, p. 22. 7.    Cane River GMP, p. 23.
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Requirements for 
Treatment & Use

In the final draft of the Cane River Creole National Historical Park 

GMP in January 2001, the preferred alternative for NPS manage-

ment of the park puts an “emphasis . . . on preserving and rehabil-

itating the landscapes, structures, and artifacts of the two national 

park units [Oakland and Magnolia Plantations] . . . .”8  The GMP 

also establishes a conservative approach to treatment of the park's 

historic structures which would “reflect the continuum of history 

up to about 1960.”  Such an approach “would result in few 

changes” to the existing buildings.9  However, in its response to 

questions regarding the period of significance in the draft GMP, 

the NPS also stated that “using a 1960 date . . . does not commit the 

National Park Service to perpetuating building treatments used 

during the 1950s that are damaging to the structure.”10  The final 

GMP also notes that “contemporary materials, (post- 1948) were 

used to clad some buildings to prolong their use as an alternative 

to the expense of repairing them” and allows for their removal 

and repair of “the base structure . . . to preserve the integrity of the 

scene.”11 

8.   Cane River GMP, p. 10.
9.   Cane River GMP, p. 13.
10.   Cane River GMP, p. 5.
11.   Cane River GMP, p. 23.
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Legal mandates and policy directives circum-

scribe treatment of the Gin Barn.  Section 106 

of the National Historic Preservation Act 

(NHPA) mandates that federal agencies, in-

cluding the NPS, take into account the effects 

of their actions on properties listed or eligible 

for listing in the National Register and give the 

Advisory Council on Historic Preservation a 

reasonable opportunity to comment.  NHPA 

regulations (36 CFR 800.10) mandate special 

requirements for protecting National Historic 

Landmarks.  Section 110(f) of the Act requires 

that the Agency Official, to the maximum ex-

tent possible, undertake such planning and ac-

tions as may be necessary to minimize harm to 

any National Historic Landmark that may be 

directly and adversely affected by an undertak-

ing.  The NPS' Cultural Resources Manage-

ment Guideline (DO- 28) requires planning for 

the protection of cultural resources “whether 

or not they relate to the specific authorizing 

legislation or interpretive programs of the parks 

in which they lie.”  The Gin Barn should be un-

derstood in its own cultural context and man-

aged in light of its own values so that it may be 

preserved unimpaired for the enjoyment of 

present and future generations.12  To help guide 

compliance with these statutes and regulations, 

the Secretary of the Interior has issued Stan-

dards for the Treatment of Historic Properties.  

The National Park Service's Preservation Briefs 

also provide detailed guidelines for appropriate 

treatment of a variety of materials, features, and 

conditions found in historic buildings.

In 1995, Beha and Associates made a brief re-

view of functional and code requirements, 

based on plans to exhibit the Cotton Gin Barn 

to the  public.  According to their report, the 

following codes would apply:

Standard Building Code:  The Cotton Gin Barn 

falls under the jurisdiction of the 1994 edition 

of the Standard Building Code (SBC).  Con-

verting the Barn to a museum will constitute a 

change in use, though the structure will still be 

considered a business occupancy.  It is believed 

that the building would qualify as a Special 

Historic Building due to its listing on the Na-

tional Register of Historic Places and as part of 

a National Historic Landmark.  As per Chapter 

101.6 of the SBC, the extent of compliance re-

quired will depend on the judgment by the 

Building Official as to what is necessary to pro-

tect public health and safety.  As a minimum, 

these would include:

• Manual fire extinguishing equipment 

located throughout the building and as 

directed by the local fire official.

• Automatic fire warning systems with 

smoke detectors and an alarm audible 

throughout the building as well as to a 

remote monitoring station for periods 

when the building is unoccupied.  

Manual pull stations should be pro-

vided in the natural path of egress.  

(Exit signs and emergency lights may 

not be required if the building is not 

occupied after daylight hours.

• Determination of floor loading capac-

ities by a structural engineer and peri-

odic review of conditions. Where 
12.   "Cultural Resource Management Guide-

lines," (1997), p. 1
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necessary, the number of occupants 

permitted in some areas, such as the 

second floor, may be limited to the 

allowable load.

If access is provided to the second floor, Beha 

recommended that stairs be rebuilt and railings 

installed which comply with current codes.  

The impact of any these kind of changes on the 

historic appearance of the Barn should be 

carefully weighed against the benefits of pro-

viding access to the upper levels.  Beha believed 

that access might not be desirable.  

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA):  Com-

pliance will be in accordance with the SBC, 

1994 Edition and Federal ADA Accessibility 

Guidelines.  The Americans with Disabilities 

Act requires that “persons with disabilities are 

to be provided accommodations and access 

equal to, or similar to, that available to the gen-

eral public.” Alterations made to existing public 

accommodations made after January 1992 are 

required to comply with this law.  With regard 

to existing buildings, the law requires only that 

"reasonable accommodation” must be made 

without “undue burden” and provides consid-

eration for instances in which the owner of a 

building has made a “good faith effort” to com-

ply with the law.  However, these and all other 

provisions of the law must be tested in the 

courts.

In the case of a building which is listed on the 

National Register of Historic Places, such as the 

Gin Barn, if the owner believes that compliance 

with the ADA requirements would threaten or 

destroy its historic significance, then the State 

Historic Preservation Officer is to be consulted 

and, if the SHPO agrees, alternative technical 

provisions are permitted to the specific element 

so threatened.
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Alternatives for 
Treatment & Use

The Gin Barn dominates the landscape at Magnolia Plantation 

and  the park's GMP calls for it to be one of the focal points for 

exhibit and interpretation.  While some of the buildings on the 

plantation may be rehabilitated and adapted for contemporary 

needs such as office space, certainly no other use but exhibit and 

interpretation could be contemplated for the Gin Barn.  With its 

wood- screw cotton press and much of its ginning machinery in-

tact, the building can play a central role in interpretation of the 

plantation's history in general and of the development of planta-

tion gins in particular.

Two broad alternatives for appropriate treatment of the Gin Barn 

can be identified:  (a) simple preservation of the existing building 

while making it safe for modern occupancy and use; and (b) res-

toration to some significant period in the building's past.  Resto-

ration is generally defined as the act or process of making 

alterations to an existing historic building that would return it to 

an earlier appearance.  Restoration focuses on the conservation 

and repair of materials and features from the most significant time 

in a property's history while permitting the removal of materials 

and features from other periods and reproduction or recreation of 

missing features.
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Full restoration of the Gin Barn to its appear-

ance prior to its conversion to a hay barn in 

1939 is a compelling option, especially in light 

of the building's significance as an exceptional 

example of a plantation gin.  Restoration target 

dates might logically include c. 1870 prior to in-

stallation of the steam- powered equipment, c. 

1880 when the first steam- powered equipment 

was installed, or c. 1900 when the building was 

adapted for the Munger- style system gin that 

remains partially intact in the present structure.  

However, either of the earlier targets would 

necessitate removal of the existing gin stands 

and steam- powered press, all of which are 

considered significant industrial artifacts that 

must be preserved.  Since the GMP has also es-

tablished continuity and adaptation as primary 

interpretive themes for the park and has specif-

ically targeted the gin and presses for interpre-

tation, restoration of the Gin Barn to any 

period earlier than c. 1900 does not appear to 

be a viable option.

Restoration of the Gin Barn to its appearance in 

the early twentieth century, when the Hertzogs' 

system gin was in full operation, would include 

three main components:  (1)  restoration of the 

building to its appearance following installation 

of the present ginning equipment, (2) recon-

struction of the engine house, the seed house, 

and their connections to the Gin Barn, and (3) 

restoration of the historic wood- screw cotton 

press and the machinery for the building's Mu-

nger- style system gin.  Restoration of the ma-

chinery and press in the building would not be 

difficult since the majority of the gin machinery 

and all of the wood- screw press remain intact; 

but the machinery within the Gin Barn is only 

part of the total ginning complex.  Full restora-

tion of the system gin would require recon-

struction of those components that no longer 

exist, including the engine house, which was 

destroyed by a tornado in1939, and the seed 

house, which was taken down by the Hertzogs 

in the 1970s.  A photograph of the tornado-

damaged engine house taken shortly before it 

was removed could support the building's re-

construction if archaeological investigation 

could determine the building's footprint.  Un-

fortunately, no such documentation exists for 

the seed house so that, even with archaeologi-

cal investigation, its features and finishes could 

only be conjectured.  Furthermore, repairs to 

the Gin Barn in 1939, 1982, and 1996 also elimi-

nated much of the evidence for precisely how 

the Gin Barn was connected to either of these 

buildings.  Finally, restoration of the entire sys-

tem gin operation would dramatically alter the 

landscape at Magnolia, something that was not 

contemplated by the GMP.  Certainly, if it were 

restored to operation and actually used for 

demonstrations, the noise produced by the 

steam engine, hydraulic press, and all of the 

other machinery would permeate the entire 

plantation.

Preservation as a treatment option is defined by 

the Secretary's Standards as the act or process 

of applying measures necessary to sustain the 

existing form, integrity, and materials of the 

historic building, with the treatment aimed at 

reflecting a building's continuum over time 

through all of its various changes.  Preservation 

projects focus primarily on conservation, 
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maintenance and repair rather than extensive 

replacement and new construction.  Limited 

and sensitive upgrading of mechanical and 

electrical systems, if present, and other code-

required work to make properties functional is 

appropriate within a preservation project. 

The GMP dictates preservation of the historic 

structures at Cane River NHP as they existed 

around 1960, the end of the period of signifi-

cance for both plantations.  In essence, this 

would require preservation of the Gin Barn as 

it was repaired and altered by the Hertzogs for 

hay storage after the 1939 tornado.  Use of the 

Gin Barn to store hay for nearly four decades is 

certainly part of the story of Magnolia, since 

that use was directly related to the continued 

maintenance of horses and mules into the 

1960s.  In order to provide visitor access, treat-

ment of the building under this scenario might 

include reinstatement of the ground- level 

flooring, which disappeared primarily after 

1960, but not at the second floor, where floor-

ing was removed from the northeast corner of 

the building in 1939 and from the entire west 

end sometime after World War II.  The steep, 

narrow stairs that replaced the historic stairs in 

the northeast corner of the building would also 

be repaired; but there would be no effort to re-

store any of the machinery.      

However, the building's primary significance 

lies in its construction and use as a gin barn and 

not in its altered state as a hay barn (a use that is 

not even mentioned in the NHL designation 

report).  The GMP clearly intends the gin and 

press to be the focus of interpretation, some-

thing which cannot be reasonably accom-

plished while preserving all of the interior 

features of the post- 1939 hay barn.  While a 

strict interpretation of the Secretary's Stan-

dards might require repair of the interior of the 

building to its appearance as a hay barn, since 

the exterior and the rest of the landscape at 

Magnolia are being preserved in essentially 

their present state, such a narrow interpreta-

tion of the Standards would seriously diminish 

the park's ability to interpret the most signifi-

cant aspects of the building.
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Recommendation 
for Treatment & 
Use

The ultimate treatment of the Gin Barn at Magnolia should be to 

preserve the exterior of the building as it exists today while con-

serving and restoring the wood- screw cotton press and the gin 

machinery that remains in place in the building and providing for 

their interpretation.  Changes would be made that are necessary to 

meet the Park's interpretive goals for the site and to insure contin-

ued preservation of the wood- screw press, the ginning machin-

ery, and the building itself.

Clearly, if the building's interpretive value is to be maximized 

while maintaining the present character of the plantation- - - both 

of which are goals implicit in the GMP- - - some compromise ap-

proach to treatment of the Gin Barn will be necessary.  While the 

Oakland unit of the park is slated for a variety of ranger- led activ-

ities and demonstrations, the GMP outlines a “quieter, more con-

templative discovery experience” for visitors to Magnolia, a goal 

that would not be well- served by any effort to reconstruct the en-

tire gin complex.  So as not to interfere with the stated goal of pre-

serving the cultural landscape as it evolved after World War II, the 

exterior of the building should be preserved in its present state.

Under this scenario, necessary repairs would be made to the ex-

isting fabric of the building's exterior with no effort to replace or 

Note: A plan of pro-
posed treatment and 
use is included at the 
end of this section.
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replicate missing features.  Except for recre-

ation of a missing door opening at the west end 

of the building- - - primarily to make that space 

accessible to all visitors- - - there would be no 

changes to the exterior appearance of the 

building.   Interpretive media such as bro-

chures, wayside exhibits, or taped tours could 

easily allow visitors to understand the entire gin 

complex, including the engine house, seed 

house, and other missing elements.

On the other hand, the importance of the gin 

machinery and the wood- screw press must 

drive treatment of the interior and it is here that 

compromises necessary to fulfill the park's 

goals will be most readily apparent.  Repair and 

replacement of missing flooring in at least part 

of the building is clearly a necessity under any 

scenario that provides public access to the 

building.   However, that need not include re-

placement of the now- missing flooring that 

was laid across log joists in 1939 and which ob-

scured the base of the cotton press and other 

aspects of the historic Gin Barn.  Replacement 

of the ground level flooring as it existed prior to 

1939, as indicated on the plan at the beginning 

of this section, would allow visitor access to the 

building and, at the same time, would help give 

visitors a clearer understanding of how the 

building functioned historically.

Visitor access to the east end of the second 

floor, where most of the gin machinery is lo-

cated, would be restricted by the steep narrow 

stairs (1939) that provided access when the 

building was a hay barn and by the absent floor 

and joists which were removed at the northeast 

corner of the building in 1939.  The flooring at 

the west end of the second floor was a feature 

of the hay barn but was scavenged for fire wood 

by tenants prior to the 1980s, making visitor ac-

cess there impossible.  By reconstructing the 

missing floor and the historic stairs in the 

northeast corner of the second floor, replacing 

the missing flooring at the west end, and re-

pairing the floor elsewhere, visitors would be 

able to view the entire floor, including the gin 

machinery and the loading deck for the wood-

screw cotton press.  Handicapped access to the 

second floor is not practical without the major 

intrusion of an elevator on the building's his-

toric character.  Since the ginning and pressing 

operation will require substantial interpreta-

tion for most visitors anyway, wayside exhibits 

under the arcades could help give all visitors, 

including the handicapped, a comprehensive 

understanding of the building's historic fea-

tures and function.

As mentioned above, the door opening at the 

west end of the building (which was closed in 

the early 1980s) would also be recreated, 

thereby allowing a grade- level, handicapped-

accessible route through that end of the build-

ing where visitors could view the wood- screw 

press.  With a ramp to the door at the south side 

of the lint room, all visitors could have access to 

view all of the significant features of the first 

floor.

The key to the success of this project will be the 

judgement used in determining where replace-

ment of a deteriorated building element is nec-

essary.  Deterioration in a portion of an 

element should not necessitate total replace-

ment of the element, since epoxy consolidants 
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and fillers can often be used to repair the dam-

aged area, often without even removing the 

damaged element to make the repair.  While 

total replacement of a damaged element is of-

ten recommended in rehabilitation projects, 

the success of a preservation project can be 

judged by the amount of historic material that 

remains.  Even “replacement in kind” does not 

typically address natural processes that give the 

historic materials an aged appearance that can-

not be duplicated except by the passage of time.

Site Considerations: A critical need is archaeo-

logical investigation that is focused on the gin 

barn and its ancillary structures.  Location of 

the footprint of the engine house should be 

possible and, with the family's help, the foot-

print of the seed house might also be located.  

Once that is done, the footprints of both build-

ings could be “ghosted” on the ground, incor-

porating archaeological remnants as 

appropriate.

In addition, there should be a comprehensive 

archaeological investigation of the footprint of 

the Gin Barn.  Properly designed, such a 

project might help answer some of the many 

questions that still surround the building, in-

cluding if there was an earlier building on the 

site and what was its use; if an animal- powered 

cotton press or gin was ever operated at the east 

end of the present building; and how draft ani-

mals entered the building.  This investigation 

will have to be conducted prior to any further 

work on the building since conservation of the 

wooden press and other parts of the building 

will require significant ground- disturbing ac-

tivities.

The brick foundation of the steam engine is in 

reasonably good condition, although loose ele-

ments need to be secured and the structure re-

pointed as necessary to reduce water 

penetration.  The cistern requires a significant 

amount of repointing to stabilize and preserve 

the structure.  Archaeological investigation of 

its interior would also be appropriate.

A route should be defined for visitors walking 

to and from the Gin Barn from the main park-

ing area to the north.  Walkways should also be 

defined around the perimeter of the building as 

necessary to lead visitors to the doors at the 

west end and handicapped access on the south 

side.

Historically, the ground around the Gin Barn 

complex would not have been grassed.  Con-

stant foot and wagon traffic would have insured 

that much of the area was muddy or dusty, de-

pending on the time of year.  As an added pro-

tection against accidental fire, vegetation 

should be eliminated or kept reduced around 

the perimeter of the building.

• Conduct complete archeological 

investigation around and within 

present building.

• Repair and repoint cistern and engine 

base.

• Define appropriate routing of visitors 

around building.

• Keep perimeter of building free of veg-

etation.
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Foundation

When the building was evaluated by Beha and 

Associates in 1995, the report of their structural 

engineer stated that “most of the brick piers 

were in reasonably good condition.”13  When 

repairs were made in 1996, however, all of the 

perimeter piers were completely rebuilt on 

concrete footings.  The few interior piers that 

remain intact should be preserved without ma-

jor repairs.  Additional piers might be added if 

necessary to support projected loads.  The 

foundation piers for the hydraulic press are in 

good condition and should require little if any 

work.

Once archaeological investigation is complete 

within the footprint of the building, the por-

tions of the first floor which will be exposed 

earth will need to be re- graded, as will the area 

beneath the arcades.  The aim is to provide a 

level surface not hazardous to visitors, but at-

tention must also be given to insuring the rain-

water does not collect or run under the 

building.  Archaeology will be necessary to de-

termine the foundation for the wood- screw 

press and what will be necessary to restore the 

grade at that end of the barn.

• Preserve existing historic brick piers.

• Add additional piers if necessary to 

provide adequate support for antici-

pated loads (see below).

• Repoint historic masonry as necessary.

Framing

The condition of the building's structure is the 

most difficult aspect of the building to resolve.  

In 1995, shortly after acquisition of the building, 

the NPS contracted with Ann Beha and Asso-

ciates to conduct a structural inspection and 

assessment of the Gin Barn.  Their report (see 

Appendix E) included a structural engineering 

assessment and evaluation of the building by 

consulting engineers Robert Silman Associates, 

P.C.  That report provided recommendations 

for stabilization of the building, including a 

recommendation to defer full repair of the roof 

“until an HSR has been completed, and the ap-

propriate roofing material for restoration pe-

riod has been established.”

Beha found few problems with the cypress tim-

bers that compose the building's frame.  They 

remain in sound condition with only very lim-

ited areas of rot or termite damage.  In addition, 

Beha found the joists for the second floor have 

“a very good capability to support the load of 

visitors.”14  The first floor framing could not be 

examined at that time because it was obscured 

by flooring; but since it is framed with similar 

material, it, too, should be capable of support-

ing the load of visitors.  If additional support is 

required, shoring could be easily provided be-

neath the first floor without changes to the ex-

isting framing.

There are isolated areas of damage to the 

building's sills, nearly all of which can be 

readily repaired using epoxy consolidants.  The 

sills at the west end and at the north side of the 
13.    See Appendix E, Silman's engineering 

report, p. 3. 14.    Ibid., Beha report, p. 7.
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east end of the building, which were added af-

ter the building was constructed, are not well 

connected to the side sills and that deficiency 

should be corrected.  In doing so, a mechanism 

for tying the side walls together might be exam-

ined.  At the west end, a door opening will 

break the sill (which was actually installed in 

two sections) near the center of the wall; but 

the sills could be anchored to the side sills and 

to new footings, piers and tie- downs on either 

side of the opening.

Replacement of the entire roof structure in 

1996 significantly altered the historic character 

of the building; and, while there is sufficient 

documentation to support reconstruction of 

the original pole- rafter roof, a reconstructed 

roof would not meet the requirements of mod-

ern building codes.  "On the other hand," as 

Robert Silman Associates' structural assess-

ment and evaluation stated in 1995, "except for 

the termite damage, [the original pole rafters] 

seem to have behaved perfectly well."  Since 

code compliance would probably prohibit re-

construction of the pole- rafter roof system, the 

use of substitute materials that would mimic 

the appearance of wooden pole rafters might 

be investigated.  The Gin Barn rafters might be 

replicated in metal perhaps encased in fiber-

glass or other material that would approximate 

the appearance of the original rafters while 

providing the structural stability that modern 

engineering requires. 

More difficult to address is a recent engineer-

ing analysis by the Denver Service Center (see 

Appendix F) that raised questions about the 

stability of the entire structure, something that 

was apparently not an issue with the Beha en-

gineers who assessed the structure in 1995.  In 

particular, the DSC report raised the specter of 

building collapse from strong winds and pro-

posed a radical system of bracing that would ir-

retrievably alter the building's character.  With 

repairs completed in the limited areas where 

there is rot and termite damage in the building's 

frame, the building's structure (with the excep-

tion of the now rebuilt roof) would be essen-

tially restored to its historic condition, a 

condition that supported tons of cotton and vi-

brating machinery and which also withstood 

tornadic winds on at least one occasion.  How-

ever, with an HSR complete and a use plan for 

the structure established, the building should 

be evaluated again by engineers who specialize 

in historic buildings and who are particularly 

familiar with heavy timber framing.  Such an 

evaluation should attempt to provide the NPS 

with definitive answers to the following:

• how might the pole- rafter roof be recon-

structed, using original or substitute mate-

rials.

• what is the risk to visitors, the building, and 

its contents from high winds.

• will repaired flooring systems at both first 

and second floors adequately support visi-

tors

Modern codes will certainly find that the 

building is deficient in some areas, even when 

fully repaired- - - very few historic building 

comply with modern codes.  However, the an-

swer is not always restructuring of the building 

to meet the letter of all codes; to do so is to in-

variably diminish the structure's historic char-
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acter.  If collapse under high winds is judged to 

be a significant risk to visitors, for instance, ac-

cess to the building could be restricted during 

stormy weather.

• Repair areas of rot and termite damage 

in sills and other framing members 

without replacing any timbers.

• Reframe west end as necessary to pro-

vide door opening.

• Secure end sills.

• Engage services of a structural engi-

neer with expertise in preservation of 

heavy timber construction to conduct 

structural analysis based upon build-

ing's repaired condition and proposed 

use and to provide recommendations 

for repairs.

• Consider alterations to program of use 

to avoid additional major structural 

intervention in the building.

Doors and Windows

Some of the present openings in the building 

are not and will not be used.  However, all 

should be repaired and maintained.  Two doors 

were originally installed on the west wall of the 

lint room but both are detached from building.  

These should be reinstalled.  Although the na-

ture of the building's construction makes it dif-

ficult to secure the building against entry, 

interior latches can be used to secure all 

ground- level openings except for the build-

ing's primary entrance.  Currently the main en-

trance is through Door B on the north side of 

the building; but, if the cotton slide were rein-

stated, that door will be blocked against entry.  

In addition, a handicapped ramp on the north 

side of the building would be an unnecessary 

intrusion on the historic setting as visitors ap-

proach the site and so should be installed at 

Door I on the south side of the building, which 

also can become the main entrance.  This door 

can be secured with a chain and padlock, as is 

done now, or a surface- mounted rim lock sim-

ilar to those used historically at Doors A, B, and 

D might be used.

The dormer and gable- end window openings 

were historically closed only by wooden shut-

ters.  These should be repaired as necessary 

and preserved.  On the south side of the build-

ing, the shutters at openings G and H, which 

were originally fitted with glazed sash, should 

remain open when the building is being 

viewed.  A third window opening (F) that is 

penetrated by the drive shaft will remain with 

its shutter fixed in place.

• Repair interior and exterior doors as 

necessary and install appropriate 

latches. 

• Repair all shutters as necessary and 

provide necessary interior latching 

mechanism.

Arcades

The arcade roofs were completely rebuilt in 

1996, but some of the 1939 posts and headers on 

the south side of the building were preserved.  

After archeological investigation, the ground 

beneath both arcades should be graded to in-
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sure proper drainage and a safe route for visi-

tors.

• Continue to preserve existing posts 

and headers on south side of building.

• Insure proper grade under arcades 

after completion of archeological 

investigation.

Wood Siding

The end walls and dormers were originally 

sided with lap siding.  All or most of the siding 

on the end walls was replaced in the early 

1980s; the dormer siding appears to be origi-

nal.  Some of this siding needs to be re- secured; 

in general, it remains in good condition.  Care-

ful attention should be given to preserving 

those portions of siding that are original, which 

are generally indicated by the use of cut nails 

for fasteners.

Except at the ends of the lint room and the wall 

that formed the south side of the seed room (in 

the vicinity of the two windows noted above), 

the sides of the building beneath the arcades 

were covered with siding that was not lapped 

but, rather, spaced so as to provide good venti-

lation to the interior of the building.  That sid-

ing is installed on the exterior of the building's 

frame.  Since the lint room and seed room of 

necessity needed to be secured against animal 

entry, those walls were boarded from the inte-

rior without spacing between the boards.  Any 

necessary repairs should maintain this distinc-

tion.

• Repair siding as necessary, maintaining 

lapped siding on ends and on dormers, 

spaced slat siding on the sides, and 

solid board walls in the lint and seed 

rooms.

Interior

Flooring is almost entirely missing from the 

first floor, except for remnants beneath the wall 

at the south end of the lint room.  Flooring 

would not be replaced around the cotton press 

since that would obscure part of the box and 

would also make it more difficult to monitor 

the press' condition.  The existing joists should 

be removed, at least in part, in order to provide 

visitor access around the press.  Flooring 

should also not be replaced on the north side of 

the east end of the building, although since vis-

itors will not be entering that area the log joists 

added in 1939 might remain in place.  Flooring 

should be replaced (after repair of the framing) 

in the lint room and at the east end as indicated 

by the proposed use plan (see above).

At the second level, flooring is largely present at 

the east end of the building but entirely missing 

at the west end.  The missing section of floor in 

the northeast corner of the building should be 

re- framed and re- floored.  The opening for the 

cotton slide might be re- instated, although that 

might present a hazard for visitors.  Alterna-

tively, its location could simply be marked and 

interpreted for visitors.  Missing joists and 

flooring should also be replaced at the west end 

of the building.  The surviving flooring at the 

second level should be carefully repaired and 
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preserved.  If after limited repairs it is judged 

inadequate for visitor loads, additional flooring 

might be installed in the form of a walkway that 

could provide a safe route for visitors.

The south end of the east wall of the lint room 

and the wall separating the two levels of the 

second floor have been removed, probably in 

1939.  Reconstruction of these walls to match 

the remaining walls might help visitors more 

readily understand the building's historic func-

tions.  Detached but surviving doors and other 

missing material on the west wall of the lint 

room should also be reinstated.  The south wall 

of what was formerly the seed room remains 

mostly intact but may need minor repairs.

In order to provide for safe visitor viewing, a 

simple railing must be installed around the ex-

posed perimeter of the floor on the south side 

of the building at the former seed room loca-

tion.  If the wall separating the second floor is 

not reconstructed, a similar railing will be nec-

essary there as well.  These should be designed 

and installed simply, using 2 x 4s or other utili-

tarian material.  Finally, the deteriorated stair-

way (1939) in the southeast corner of the 

building could be repaired; but since the stair 

opening at the second floor might present an 

additional hazard to visitors, the opening 

should be closed. 

• Replace all missing framing and floor-

ing at second level; replace missing 

flooring in lint room and on south side 

of east end of first floor as indicated on 

plan.

• At the second floor, preserve all exist-

ing flooring, adding flooring on top of 

the historic material if necessary to 

provide a safe route for visitors.

• Rebuild part of east wall of lint room; 

repair remainder of walls in lint and 

seed rooms.

• Rebuild wall on second floor above 

west wall of lint room or install railing 

at that location.

• Install railing around perimeter of 

former seed room floor.

• Reconstruct historic stairs at northeast 

corner of building; remove stairs at 

southeast corner of building.

Electrical System and Lighting

If the building is to be exhibited in an authentic 

way, there should be no artificial lighting; and, 

since the building would not be exhibited at 

night, lighting should not be an issue.  Simply 

opening window shutters on the south side of 

the former seed room will dramatically in-

crease the light in that area, which is the most 

dimly- lit part of the building.  Opening shut-

ters when the building is being shown would 

provide adequate light for viewing except per-

haps on the most overcast days in the winter.  If 

additional lighting is deemed absolutely neces-

sary to illuminate machinery, for example, it 

should be designed to be concealed and in-

stalled in the most unobtrusive manner possi-

ble.  Track lighting, as has been proposed for 

the lint room, should not be used.
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• Consider exhibiting the building using 

only natural light.

• If necessary, design concealed lighting 

to illuminate poorly- lit areas of the 

building.

Fire Protection

The most likely cause of loss to the building is 

fire, with three possible causes apparent:  light-

ning, grass fires, and arson.  To protect against 

lightning, a lightning rod system should be in-

stalled on the building.  To protect against grass 

fires, the ground in the immediate vicinity of 

the building should be kept clear of vegetation 

as it would have been historically.  Arson is the 

most difficult threat to address and the only 

means to do that is a sprinkler system.

• Install lightning rods on the building.

• Install a comprehensive system of fire 

and smoke detectors and a complete 

sprinkler system.

• Keep ground clear of vegetation or 

keep grass closely mowed within an 

area of about twenty feet around the 

perimeter of the building.

Handicapped Accessibility

The site and the building are not currently ac-

cessible. An accessible path from the visitor 

parking area should be provided.  Location of 

the parking and the materials for the walk must 

be carefully studied to minimize impact on the 

historic setting.  The first floor around the cot-

ton press will be accessible at grade, but a ramp 

will be required for access to the remainder of 

the first floor through Door I.    

The second floor is not accessible, and con-

struction of an elevator would threaten the his-

toric character of the building.  If NPS 

proposes to interpret the upper level, it is im-

perative that alternate means of interpretation 

for disabled visitors be negotiated as provided 

by ADA.  Since the entire complex will require 

a significant amount of interpretation in terms 

of wayside exhibits, audio tapes, and other me-

dia, these could be designed to accommodate 

handicapped visitors, including the visually 

impaired.

• Design handicapped- accessible route 

to and around building.

• Install ramp to door I.

• Design alternate means of interpreting 

second floor for handicapped visitors.

Cotton Gin

In its current condition, partially disassembled 

and with some components of the overall sys-

tem no longer in existence, the system cotton 

gin with its hydraulic press can offer visitors 

scant understanding of the nature of the gin-

ning operation.  The missing elements of the 

system that were outside the Gin Barn itself- - -

the engine house and the seed house- -  will be 

interpreted through wayside exhibits or other 

means before visitors enter the building.  On 

the interior, the machinery should be con-

served (not restored) and reassembled, guided 

by the HAER report,  metals and wood conser-

vators, and someone familiar with the configu-
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ration of early twentieth- century gins.15  The 

belts that drove the machinery are missing as is 

much of the ductwork, including the “suckers” 

that moved the cotton to the second floor gin-

ning machinery from wagons under the north 

arcade and the duct that moved seed out of the 

building through the south arcade.  Some of 

these elements might be recreated or they 

might be only “ghosted”; those decisions 

should be made as part of an overall exhibit 

design for the building.  The Eagle gin, which 

was replaced by the existing gin but remains in 

the building, should also be conserved and ex-

hibited appropriately.

• Engage conservators and specialist in 

early twentieth- century gins to guide 

conservation, re- assembly, and dis-

play of existing gin machinery, includ-

ing the old Eagle gin.

• As part of overall exhibit design for the 

building, determine how much recre-

ation of missing ductwork, drive shaft 

belts, and other missing components is 

necessary for good interpretation of 

the ginning and pressing operation.

Cotton Press

Considering that it has been almost totally ne-

glected for more than sixty years, the wood-

screw cotton press remains in remarkably good 

condition, except for some termite damage at 

the base of the main supports and a broken 

loading deck at the second floor.  Although full 

treatment recommendations for the press are 

outside the scope of this report, some guide-

lines for treatment can be established.  First, 

and most importantly, the press is far too rare 

an artifact to risk further damage and wear by 

restoring it to operation.  Resources would be 

better spent in constructing a working scale 

model of the press that could be used to dem-

onstrate its operation to visitors.  Second, as 

with any museum object, the highest priority is 

preservation of the artifact itself.  The press is 

almost completely handmade and the high 

quality of its craftsmanship is one of its most 

significant features.  The press needs conserva-

tion to arrest deterioration and to insure struc-

tural stability; but that should never include 

removal and replacement of any portion of the 

existing artifact.  The craftsmanship of the 

press would also be diminished by disassembly 

since the Magnolia press is the only one of the 

surviving wood- screw presses that remains in-

tact as it was originally constructed.  

To insure preservation of this highly- signifi-

cant artifact, the park should engage the ser-

vices of a professional conservator who 

specializes in conservation of wooden objects 

to assess the press' condition and guide further 

treatment.16  As part of the archaeological in-

vestigation that is required in the Gin Barn, the 

character and condition of the press' founda-

tion should be investigated.  Some excavation 

will be necessary around the press to insure 

15.    Tommy Brown, formerly with the Conti-
nental Gin Company, is one noted author-
ity on cotton gins. 

16.    Alan Levitan, conservator of wooden 
objects at the NPS' Harpers Ferry Center, is 
familiar with the Magnolia press and 
could offer the guidance that will be nec-
essary to insure the press' preservation.
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that there is no wood- to- ground contact that 

could invite further termite infestation.  The 

building has been treated and it is believed that 

there is no active infestation; but regular in-

spection will be necessary to insure that there is 

no recurrence of termite damage.  If it is found 

that the base of the press has lost structural in-

tegrity (which does not seem to be the case), 

the weak areas might be braced with modern 

materials; but, as noted above, the historic ma-

terials should never be replaced.

• Engage services of conservator spe-

cializing in large wooden objects to 

assess press' condition and guide its 

treatment.

• Determine character and condition of 

press footing through archaeological 

investigation.

• Brace press with modern materials if 

necessary to insure structural stability.

• Avoid any disassembly or replacement 

of historic materials.

• Do not operate historic press; con-

struct working scale model to demon-

strate its operation to visitors.
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Up

Notes
1.   Remove joists to restore earth floor; after archeaological investigation, restore 
original grade.
2.  Hatched areas indicate replacement of missing floor joists and flooring to be 
replaced.
3.  Reconstruct missing floor and stairs; repair flooring over remainder of second floor 
at this end of the building.
4.  Reopen cotton bale slide or mark its location for visitors.
5.  Remove stairway and repair flooring..
6.  Construct ramp and widen door as necessary to provide handicapped access.
7.  Hatched areas will require new flooring.
8.  Rebuild wall at this location.
9. Rebuild wall at this location or install railing similar to that used around seed room 
floor.
10.  Recreate door opening to provide access to press room.
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A P P E N D I X  A

Magnolia Plat 
1858



M a g n o l i a  P l a t ,  1 8 5 8

SERO

National Park Service
94



HSR

Magnolia Gin Barn

http://crs.sero.nps.gov/historic/hsr/m
alu/e_sum

m
ary.htm

95

A P P E N D I X  B

Historic American 
Building Survey 
(HABS)
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A P P E N D I X  C  

Historic American 
Engineering 
Record (HAER)
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The National Park Service cares for special 

places saved by the American people so that all 

may experience our heritage.
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